# PARAMETER ESTIMATION OF A NONLINEAR BURGER'S MODEL USING NANOINDENTATION AND FINITE ELEMENT-BASED INVERSE ANALYSIS

By

## SALAH UDDIN AHMED HAMIM

Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology Dhaka, Bangladesh 2009

Master of Science in Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering Oklahoma State University Stillwater, OK, USA 2011

> Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY May, 2016

# PARAMETER ESTIMATION OF A NONLINEAR BURGER'S MODEL USING NANOINDENTATION AND FINITE ELEMENT-BASED INVERSE ANALYSIS

Dissertation Approved:

Raman P. Singh

Dissertation Advisor

Kaan A. Kalkan

Sandip P. Harimkar

Raj N. Singh

Name: Salah Uddin Ahmed Hamim

Date of Degree: May, 2016

# Title of Study: PARAMETER ESTIMATION OF A NONLINEAR BURGERS MODEL USING NANOINDENTATION AND FINITE ELEMENT-BASED INVERSE ANALYSIS

Major Field: Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering

Nanoindentation involves probing a hard diamond tip into a material, where the load and the displacement experienced by the tip is recorded continuously. This loaddisplacement data is a direct function of material's innate stress-strain behavior. Thus, theoretically it is possible to extract mechanical properties of a material through nanoindentation. However, due to various nonlinearities associated with nanoindentation the process of interpreting load-displacement data into material properties is difficult. Although, simple elastic behavior can be characterized easily, a method to characterize complicated material behavior such as nonlinear viscoelasticity is still lacking. In this study, a nanoindentation-based material characterization technique is developed to characterize soft materials exhibiting nonlinear viscoelasticity. Nanoindentation experiment was modeled in finite element analysis software (ABAQUS), where a nonlinear viscoelastic behavior was incorporated using user-defined subroutine (UMAT). The model parameters were calibrated using a process called inverse analysis. In this study, a surrogate model-based approach was used for the inverse analysis. The different factors affecting the surrogate model performance are analyzed in order to optimize the performance with respect to the computational cost.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Cł	napter	r ]	Page
1	INT	RODUCTION	1
<b>2</b>	$\operatorname{LIT}$	ERATURE SURVEY	5
	2.1	Nanoindentation Analysis: Oliver–Pharr Method	6
	2.2 Adaptation of Oliver–Pharr Method for Time–Dependent Behavior		
	2.3 Analytical Approaches for Viscoelastic Materials		
		2.3.1 Spring–Dashpot Based Viscoelastic Models	14
2.4 Inverse Approach Based Material Behavior Modeling			
	2.5 Review of Existing Literature		
		2.5.1 Analytical Approach in Nanoindentation	18
		2.5.2 Inverse Approach in Nanoindentation	21
	2.6	Motivation and Objective of the Study	23
3	DE	VELOPMENT OF THE TECHNIQUE	28
	3.1	Nonlinear Viscoelastic Mathematical Model	28
3.2 Finite Element Modeling		Finite Element Modeling	33
	3.3 Inverse Analysis		34
		3.3.1 Proper Orthogonal Decomposition (POD) Theory	37
		3.3.2 Radial Basis Function Theory	41
		3.3.3 Combining POD–RBF for Approximation	43
	3.4	Taguchi Design of Experiments for Sensitivity Analysis	45

	PLICE	ATION OF THE PROPOSED TECHNIQUE	46
4.1	Case S	Study	49
	4.1.1	Nanoindentation	49
	4.1.2	Finite Element Simulation	50
	4.1.3	Taguchi Design of Experiments and Sensitivity Analysis	53
	4.1.4	POD–RBF Based Surrogate Model	54
4.2 Results and Discussions			58
4.2.1 Sensitivity Analysis			58
4.2.2 Effect of Training Points and Choice of RBF			61
	4.2.3	Effect of Shape Parameter	65
	4.2.4	Effect of Random Noise	67
4.3 Conclusion			
5 ESTIMATION OF NONLINEAR VISCOELASTIC PARAMETER			
5.1	Study	Details	72
	5.1.1	Design of Experiments for Sensitivity Analysis	72
	5.1.2	Nanoindentation Experiment	75
5.1.3 Material		Material	75
	5.1.4	Genetic Algorithm	76
	5.1.5	Parametric Study: Friction Coefficient	77
	5.1.6	POD–RBF Surrogate Model	78
5.2	5.1.6 Result	POD–RBF Surrogate Model	78 80
5.2	5.1.6 Result 5.2.1	POD-RBF Surrogate Model	78 80 80
5.2	5.1.6 Result 5.2.1 5.2.2	POD-RBF Surrogate Model	78 80 80 84
5.2	<ul> <li>5.1.6</li> <li>Result</li> <li>5.2.1</li> <li>5.2.2</li> <li>5.2.3</li> </ul>	POD-RBF Surrogate Model	78 80 80 84 87
5.2 CO	5.1.6 Result 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 NCLU	POD-RBF Surrogate Model	78 80 80 84 87 <b>94</b>
	<ul> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>EST</li> <li>5.1</li> </ul>	$\begin{array}{c} 4.1.2 \\ 4.1.3 \\ 4.1.4 \\ 4.2 \\ Result \\ 4.2.1 \\ 4.2.2 \\ 4.2.3 \\ 4.2.4 \\ 4.3 \\ Concl \\ \textbf{ESTIMAT} \\ 5.1 \\ Study \\ 5.1.1 \\ 5.1.2 \\ 5.1.3 \\ 5.1.4 \\ \hline \end{array}$	<ul> <li>4.1.2 Finite Element Simulation</li></ul>

# LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table

2.1	Young's modulus of soft tissues, measured by indentation $[1]$	24
4.1	Range of values for the model parameters	52
4.2	Levels of material model parameters	54
4.3	Experimental design based on the modified ${\rm L}_{16}$ orthogonal array	55
4.4	Experimental design based on the modified ${\rm L}_{16}$ orthogonal array	58
4.5	Experimental design based on the modified ${\rm L}_{16}$ orthogonal array	59
4.6	Experimental design based on the modified ${\rm L}_{16}$ orthogonal array	62
5.1	Levels of nonlinear Burgers model parameters	73
5.2	Experimental design based on the $L_{27}$ orthogonal array $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	74
5.3	Analysis of Variance for different parameters	86
5.4	Parametric Space of Nonlinear Burgers Parameters for Surrogate Train-	
	ing	88
5.5	Optimized Nonlinear Burgers Model Parameters	88
5.6	Variation Between Different Plots	92

# LIST OF FIGURES

# Figure

# Page

2.1	a) Typical nanoindentation load-displacement plot, b) schematic of the		
	material surface before and after loading $[2]$	7	
2.2	Load-displacement profiles a) triangular, b) trapezoidal [3] $\ldots \ldots$	11	
2.3	Typical nanoindentation plot for a viscoelastic material $[4]$	12	
2.4	Kelvin-Voigt model	15	
2.5	Maxwell model	15	
2.6	Schematic of Generalized Maxwell model	16	
2.7	An illustration of trade-off between fidelity and computational cost $[5]$	18	
2.8	Viscoelasticity a) linear and b) nonlinear	25	
3.1	Schematic of nonlinear Burger's model	29	
3.2	Typical inverse method flowchart	35	
3.3	Input output relationship in a typical system	38	
4.1	Load–displacement behavior of a Berkovich nanoindentation $\ . \ . \ .$	47	
4.2	ABAQUS finite element modeling details	51	
4.3	Stress contours ABAQUS output after unloading for elastic–plastic		
	Berkovich indentation simulation	52	
4.4	Individual model parameter's sensitivity towards the output obtained		
	by ANOVA	60	

4.5	Comparison of the initial 64-training point and subsequently optimized	
	36-training point surrogate model performances calculated for training	
	and validation points for five different radial basis functions (RBFs),	
	namely, linear splines (LS), cubic splines (CS), multiquadratic (MQ),	
	Gaussian (GS), and inverse multiquadratic (IMQ)	63
4.6	Effect of shape parameter $(c_j)$ on the performance 36-point surrogate	
	model for various continuously smooth radial basis functions (RBF's),	
	multiquadratic (MQ), Gaussian (GS), and inverse multiquadratic (IMQ).	66
4.7	Effect of random noise on the surrogate model performance calculated	
	for unknown data (validation points) for various radial basis functions	
	(RBF's), linear splines (LS), cubic splines (CS), multiquadratic (MQ),	
	Gaussian (GS), and inverse multiquadratic (IMQ)	68
5.1	Effect of friction coefficient, $f$ on nanoindentation data for different	
	loading-unloading time and constant maximum load (difference = depth	
	for frictionless – depth for $f = 0.125/0.25/0.5)$	81
5.2	Effect of friction coefficient, $f$ on nanoindentation data for different	
	maximum load (constant loading–unloading time) $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	83
5.3	Output sensitivity towards different nonlinear Burgers model parameters	85
5.4	Experiment vs. surrogate model for calibrated nonlinear Burgers model	
	parameters	90
5.5	Experiment vs. finite element simulation for calibrated nonlinear Burg-	
	ers model parameters	91

## CHAPTER 1

## **INTRODUCTION**

The advent of 21<sup>st</sup> century has led to the development of several new materials for different engineering applications. Metals or metallic alloys which have been predominantly used for structural applications are being replaced by lighter and stronger composite counterparts. Most often polymers are used as the matrix materials in these composites. Polymers are also being increasingly used in thin film applications. Thin films have already found considerable industrial applications, e.g. in the production of plane and automobile, as well as in electronic, optical, medical and chemical devices. Unlike metals or ceramics, which exhibit simple elastic–plastic behavior, mechanical behavior of polymeric materials are very complex. Understanding the mechanical behavior of polymers, which exhibit time–dependent responses under applied load, is an important issue in predicting the performance of these materials while in use.

Biomaterials are another important area where knowing the mechanical behavior would greatly improve the quality of understanding of these material systems. The onset of various diseases such as breast cancer [6, 7], atherosclerosis [8, 9], fibrosis [10], and glaucoma [11] has been found to be related with change in tissue compliance. The application of fast and reliable characterization of biomaterials would not only be beneficial for disease progression, but also in designing improved artificial organs, building virtual surgical simulators and automated robotic surgeon [12, 13].

Therefore, one of the most important question in today's materials science is understanding mechanical behavior of materials under different loading conditions at different length scales. Traditional mechanical testing methods such as tension, compression, flexural, and bend tests can only provide the macroscale mechanical behavior [14–17]. Macroscale test data often differs from the nanoscale test data if the material system is non-homogeneous [1]. Moreover, these testing methods require the specimen to be of certain size or shape, which is often difficult to obtain. Complex fixture design and gripping issues are a few more challenges to overcome in case of traditional testing methods.

Nanoindentation is one of the most promising material characterization technique that has the potential to overcome the complexities of conventional testing methods. Nanoindentation involves probing a material with a very small, hard diamond tip of known geometry, while the load and the displacement experienced by the tip is recorded continuously. This load and displacement data is a direct function of material's inherent mechanical properties, and thus makes it theoretically possible to attain mechanical properties from nanoindentation data. The biggest advantage of nanoindentation, which is driving the use of this technique, is that it removes the size or shape restriction placed by the macro or bulk testing techniques.

However, indenting a material and recording loads and displacements is just the preliminary step in obtaining mechanical properties from the nanoindentation process. As loads and displacements are the only experimentally measurable variables, in order to extract mechanical properties, suitable analytical or numerical methods that relate indentation loads and displacements to material properties are required [18, 19]. This is a challenging task because unlike traditional uniaxial testing methods, nanoindentation load–displacement data comes from complex multi-axial loading, thus making it much more difficult to analyze and subsequently interpret in terms of mechanical properties.

Past developments in this area has reached to the point where nanoindentation measurements could be related to mechanical properties for materials exhibiting simple elastic or elastoplastic material behavior. However, for materials exhibiting complex material behavior, such as time-dependent material behavior, suitable analysis technique is not available. Understanding mechanical behavior of materials is a root problem, and it carries forward to severely limit applications. For example, accurate mathematical descriptions of the mechanical behavior of soft tissues remain the limiting factor in the advancement of realistic medical simulations and non-invasive diagnostic tools as soft tissues exhibit nonlinear stress-strain behavior at large deformations.

Developing an analysis technique for nanoindentation of soft materials, such as, polymers, gels, metals at high temperature, and biomaterials, is especially challenging due to the inherent time-dependent mechanical behavior [20]. Time-dependent mechanical behavior, which is known as viscoelasticity or viscoplasticity needs to be taken into consideration in order to accurately predict material behavior under service [21]. In case of a viscoelastic or viscoplastic material, the stress state not only depends on the strain, but also the strain rate.

In chapter 2, a comprehensive review of the existing nanoindentation-based analysis techniques is presented. This includes both analytical and inverse approach for analysis of load–displacement nanoindentation data. Based on the state-of-the-art review few questions are raised, the answers to which if known could significantly improve the applicability of nanoindentation technique for material property characterization.

In chapter 3, the development of a technique that can be used to characterize nonlinear viscoelastic behavior of soft materials is described. The theories and challenges of the specific techniques is also provided to improve the understanding of the effectiveness of each constituent of the overall technique.

In chapter 4, an application of the developed technique is presented for an elastoplastic material behavior. This case study is used to understand the overall numerical technique in the context of the nanoindentation experiment. By extending this understanding of the numerical technique, the problem of determining nonlinear viscoelastic constitutive model parameters is solved. Later part of chapter 5 is utilized to draw a conclusion of the study, as well as to report about the possible future works that could improve the robustness and the general applicability of this technique.

### CHAPTER 2

#### LITERATURE SURVEY

Nanoindentation, also known as depth-sensing indentation (DSI), is a very popular technique for determination of mechanical properties such as elastic modulus and hardness. It has been extensively used to study the behavior of metallic or ceramic materials in the past couple of decades. Local mechanical properties at the microand nanoscale can be effectively characterized by nanoindentation, which is the major advantage of using this technique [22, 23]. This also makes it ideal to study materials that are otherwise not characterizable by conventional testing methods e.g. thin films, coatings, and localized surface modification of materials [24–26]. Nanoindentation has also attracted interest for biological material characterization, since it may be used to assess mechanical properties on the cellular scale [27].

Two different approaches have been primarily used for mechanical characterization of materials by nanoindentation [28]. The first approach is based on analytical or semianalytical solutions arising from mathematical contact theories. The second approach, which is popularly known as '*inverse analysis*', utilizes a combination of finite element methods and numerical optimization algorithms. In inverse analysis the difference between experimental and numerical nanoindentation data, called the objective or error function, is minimized with respect to the material model parameters using numerical optimization. Subsequently, the parameters of the constitutive models are identified as the optimized material properties. Inverse analysis has been found to be applicable in tackling a wide range of problems by the research community [29]. In the next few subsections, a brief review of the nanoindentation based studies is presented for both methods.

#### 2.1 Nanoindentation Analysis: Oliver–Pharr Method

Theoretical studies to characterize the material properties by indentation were first conducted by Hertz. He developed a relationship between the load and indentation depth for spherical elastic bodies. Later Sneddon extended Hertz's work to derive expressions for load, displacement, and contact depth for elastic contacts between a rigid, axisymmetric punch with an arbitrary smooth profile and an elastic halfspace [30]. The first study to use Sneddon's analytical solution and measure the mechanical properties from nanoindentation experiment was conducted by Doerner and Nix [31]. Their study demonstrated that hardness and Young's modulus could be calculated based on the information provided by nanoindentation load–displacement plot. They also pointed out that with the help of suitable analytical procedure plastic properties of a material can also be obtained from nanoindentation.

In subsequent years, Oliver and Pharr modified the method proposed by Doerner and Nix to find elastic properties of materials [2]. This method has since been cited for more than 13000 times and became more of an unofficial standard for nanoindentation testing. The underlying assumption of this method is that unloading curve of a nanoindentation plot is purely dominated by the elastic properties of the material. Using this method for time-dependent materials would provide inaccurate results since the original assumption does not remain valid. To provide a better understanding of nanoindentation technique a brief overview of this method is followed in next paragraphs.

Figure 2.1 shows a typical nanoindentation load–displacement plot. In order to extract mechanical properties, such as Young's modulus and hardness, values of contact stiffness, contact depth, and area of contact are required from the nanoindentation plot. The contact stiffness S is the slope of the unloading curve, while the contact



Figure 2.1: a) Typical nanoindentation load-displacement plot, b) schematic of the material surface before and after loading [2]

depth  $h_c$  (the depth of actual contact between the indenter and the material) is calculated by Eq. 2.1.

$$h_c = h_{max} - \epsilon \; \frac{P_{max}}{S} \tag{2.1}$$

Here,  $h_{max}$  is the maximum depth of penetration including elastic deformation of the surface under load,  $P_{max}$  is the maximum force, and  $\epsilon$  is a geometrical constant associated with the geometry of the indenter [2]. This method of determining the contact depth is commonly referred to as the Oliver–Pharr method; a schematic in Fig. 2.1 shows  $h_c$  and  $h_{max}$ .

Once  $h_c$  is determined, the projected area A of actual contact can be calculated using the cross-sectional shape of the indenter along its length. Determining accurate contact area is found to be crucial for elastic analysis of nanoindentation data [32]. This area function could be determined by direct measurement of the imprint geometry under a scanning microscope [33], but in practice is normally determined by indenting a reference sample and iteratively fitting the results. The relationship between contact area, A and the contact depth,  $h_c$  for a Berkovich tip is generally expressed by the following equation–

$$A = 24.5h_c^2 + C_1h_c + C_2h_c^{0.5} + C_3h_c^{0.25} + \dots$$
(2.2)

here, the coefficients  $C_i$  can be determined by iterative fitting to indentation measurements conducted on reference material such as fused silica. The first term in Eq. 2.2 represents the area-depth relationship for a perfectly sharp Berkovich indenter, while the other terms account for tip imperfections e.g. tip roundness. Once the area of contact A is determined, hardness is found using a simple equation-

$$H = \frac{P_{max}}{A} \tag{2.3}$$

It is important to note that this hardness is defined using the projected area of contact under load, while macroscopic definition of hardness is force divided by the area of the residual imprint left by the indenter. For most materials the two definitions yields very similar values. However, in case of a material showing little to no plastic flow, the hardness calculated by Eq. 2.3 tends to be lower than the macroscopic definition.

Once contact area, A and contact stiffness, S is known, Sneddon's solution can be adapted independent of the geometry of the punch, and Young's modulus can be calculated using the following equation for reduced modulus:

$$E_r = \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2} \frac{S}{\sqrt{A}} = \left(\frac{1 - \nu_i^2}{E_i} + \frac{1 - \nu_s^2}{E_s}\right)^{-1}$$
(2.4)

here,  $\beta$  is a small correction for the non-axisymmetric indenter shape (e.g.  $\beta = 1.034$  for a Berkovich tip). For a perfectly elastic–plastic material with no other form of deformation present, the unloading curve is purely dominated by the elastic recovery of the material. As a result, Young's modulus determination from an unloading curve of a nanoindentation experiment becomes possible. Later Field and Swain developed means of extracting both Young's modulus and yield strength from load–displacement curves of a spherical indentation [34].

Approximation of Sneddon's solution is that the indenter is rigid, and therefore, deformation of the indenter is small and insignificant compared to the material being tested. As long as this approximation is valid Sneddon's solution can yield good results for the reduced modulus. However, in case of testing very hard materials, such as diamond-like carbon the deformation experienced by the indenter is substantial, thus violating the approximation Sneddon's solution is based upon.

Oliver–Pharr method and subsequent developments provided a means for extracting few key material parameters from a nanoindentation plot, namely Young's modulus, hardness, and yield strength. These were groundbreaking developments in terms of characterizing elastic–plastic material behavior. However, these methods are unusable for viscoelastic materials as the underlying assumption of unloading curve purely dominated by elastic recovery no longer holds for viscoelastic materials. In addition to that, hardness, modulus, and yield strength properties are inadequate to represent the full spectrum of behavior for these materials.

#### 2.2 Adaptation of Oliver–Pharr Method for Time–Dependent Behavior

The most widely used indenter load or displacement profiles are the triangular, where the load or displacement is ramped at a certain rate to the maximum value and then unloaded back to zero, as shown in Fig. 2.2. For elastoplastic material systems (e.g. most metals and ceramics) exhibiting little to no time-dependent behavior, the load-displacement nanoindentation curve is insensitive to loading or unloading rates; thus, triangular profiles can be effectively used to characterize these materials.

However, this is not the case for testing of viscoelastic materials such as polymers and biomaterials due to the fact that viscous behavior of these materials dramatically affect the load–displacement curve. The inherent time–dependency in mechanical response of these materials make the unloading curve of the nanoindentation experiment noticeably different by producing a "nose" [33, 35].

Figure 2.3 shows a typical nanoindentation load–displacement plot for a viscoelastic material. The nose results from excessive creep of a material under the indenter, which dominates over the elastic recovery of the material as the tip retracts from the surface. Applying Oliver–Pharr method on a nanoindentation plot exhibiting nose often provides a negative value for contact stiffness, S, and prevents extracting elastic modulus altogether. Even without the appearance of the nose, the presence of viscoelasticity often leads to overestimation of Young's modulus.

A trapezoidal load or displacement profile that implements a long enough hold before the unloading has been found to suppress the creep behavior near the initial unloading part [35–39]. The holding period ensures complete relaxation of the material, and minimizes the viscoelastic recovery during the unloading.

An useful modification to Oliver–Pharr method was proposed by Ngan *et al.* so



Figure 2.2: Load-displacement profiles a) triangular, b) trapezoidal [3]



Figure 2.3: Typical nanoindentation plot for a viscoelastic material [4]

that true value of Young's modulus for viscoelastic materials can be extracted from nanoindentation experiment [35]. According to their study, for a load-controlled indentation test with hold period prior to unloading, contact stiffness can be corrected using the following equation—

$$\frac{1}{S_e} = \frac{1}{S} + \frac{dh/dt|_{t=tm}}{v_P}$$
(2.5)

where dh/dt  $|_{t=tm}$  is the indenter displacement rate at the end of the load hold just prior to unloading, S is the contact stiffness found via original Oliver–Pharr method, and  $v_P = |dP/dt|$  is the initial unloading rate.

Although, Ngan *et al.*'s method provided an useful way to use Oliver–Pharr method for characterizing viscoelastic solids, it simply cannot address the various other important properties of a viscoelastic material [40]. As a result developing dedicated analysis techniques for viscoelastic material characterization via nanoindentation has been one of the most popular research area of the past decade.

#### 2.3 Analytical Approaches for Viscoelastic Materials

Analytical solutions capable of characterizing viscoelastic material behavior from nanoindentation load-displacement plot originated from the early works of Radok [41]. He was the first to tackle the linear viscoelastic contact problem using the method of functional equations or hereditary integrals, which was later completed by Lee and Radok [42]. This method of functional equations solved the viscoelastic problem by replacing the elastic constant with their corresponding viscoelastic operators. This is why this method is also known as 'Correspondence Principal'. Radok extended the 'Laplace transform method' formulated by Lee to eliminate the explicit time dependence of the viscoelastic contact problem and solved it in the Laplace domain [43]. Before Lee and Radok, Laplace method was only applicable to problems where displacement and stress boundary conditions are unchanged e.g. flat punch indentation problem.

The method of functional equations proved to be very successful in formulating analytical solutions for viscoelastic bodies; however, the solutions were only valid as long the penetration depth in a viscoelastic indentation monotonically increased [42]. Hence, this method is only valid for the loading portion of the nanoindentation plot. Many researchers attempted to remove this restriction. Hunter was able to remove it for spherical indentation, while Ting's implicit equations were able to remove it altogether for any linear viscoelastic material tested under any axisymmetric indenter shape [44, 45]. However, except for few specific cases applying Ting's formulation is a challenge. As a result, closed form solutions for linear viscoelastic problems are still being formulated using Radok's method of functional equations.

In 1985, Johnson summarized the correspondence analysis of spherical indentation replacing the elastic constants by the Boltzmann viscoelastic hereditary integral operators. Based on these approaches, in several contributions [46–52], the viscoelastic analytical solutions of nanoindentation with different indenter tips were presented. However, the 'Correspondence Principal' method is restricted by yielding accurate identification only for specific linear viscoelastic models under fixed experimental processes.

#### 2.3.1 Spring–Dashpot Based Viscoelastic Models

A key aspect of viscoelasticity is that mechanical behavior of a material can be successfully modeled using a combination of springs and dashpots. Viscoelastic materials demonstrate both elastic and viscous behavior in the same material. If spring represents the elastic behavior and dashpot represents the viscous behavior, a combination of two could be able to model the behavior of a viscoelastic material. The biggest advantage of using spring–dashpot based model is that the viscoelastic models can be tailored to suit specific observations [53].

By putting this idea to use several spring–dashpot model has been proposed in the literature. For a viscoelastic material, stress level is related to both strain level and strain rate in the following general form

$$A_0 + A_1 \frac{d\sigma}{dt} + A_2 \frac{d^2\sigma}{dt^2} + \dots = B_0 + B_1 \frac{d\epsilon}{dt} + B_2 \frac{d^2\epsilon}{dt^2} + \dots$$
(2.6)

where,  $\epsilon$  and  $\sigma$  are the strain and stress levels, respectively, and t is the time.  $A_i$ and  $B_i$  are the coefficients that determine the linear or even non-linear stress–strain behavior.

In the most simplest of forms, where one spring element and one dashpot element is used to create a model, this technique leads to two well known models, namely Kelvin– Voigt and Maxwell model. These models assume linear stress–strain relationship. Figures 2.4 and 2.5 show Kevin–Voigt and Maxwell model, respectively.

Using the corresponding constitutive equations for spring and dashpot, the following equation can be developed for Kelvin–Voigt model.

$$\sigma = E\epsilon + \eta\dot{\epsilon} \tag{2.7}$$



Figure 2.4: Kelvin-Voigt model



Figure 2.5: Maxwell model

here,  $\sigma = \mathbf{E}\epsilon$  is the creep part and  $\eta\dot{\epsilon}$  is the recovery part of the model;  $\dot{\epsilon} = d\epsilon/dt$  is the strain rate; E is the rigidity modulus, and  $\eta$  is the coefficient of viscosity.

Under constant stress conditions, the strain response of the material can then be captured as an exponential decay function

$$\epsilon = \frac{\sigma_0}{E} \left( 1 - e^{-Et/\eta} \right) \tag{2.8}$$

However, under constant strain rate conditions (stress relaxation part), the Kelvin– Voigt provides unrealistic linear elastic behavior for the viscoelastic material. The Maxwell model, however, povides better approximation for constant stress relaxation. For Maxwell model, the constitutive equation comes in the following form-

$$\dot{\epsilon} = \frac{\dot{\sigma}}{E} + \frac{\sigma}{\eta} \tag{2.9}$$

In case of stress relaxation ( $\dot{\epsilon}=0$ ), an exponential decay of stress is found,

$$\sigma = \sigma_0 e^{-Et/\eta} \tag{2.10}$$

while in a recovery experiment ( $\dot{\sigma}=0$ ), the model predicts the basic equation of pure Newtonian flow.



Figure 2.6: Schematic of Generalized Maxwell model

Real world materials are much more complex in their behavior, and these simplistic models are not sufficient in representing that. Previous studies show that modeling creep and relaxation behavior of complex viscoelastic behavior requires an assembly of multiple spring and dashpot in the model [54]. One such model is generalized Maxwell model. Various studies have reported that generalized Maxwell model worked well in terms of modeling the viscoelastic behavior [51, 55–58]. For this model relaxation can be written in the general form

$$\sigma = Y(t) \epsilon_0 \tag{2.11}$$

where, Y(t) is the relaxation function.

The relaxation function can be represented using Prony series having the following expression:

$$Y(t) = E_0 \left( 1 - \sum_{i=1}^n p_i (1 - e^{-t/\tau_i}) \right)$$
(2.12)

where,  $p_i$  is the *i*<sup>th</sup> Prony constant,  $\tau$  is the Prony retardation constant,  $E_0$  is the instantaneous modulus. Prony coefficients are usually found by nonlinear regression, which allow adjusting the model with respect to the observed behavior.

#### 2.4 Inverse Approach Based Material Behavior Modeling

Inverse problems are defined as the problems where the output is known and the input or source of output remains to be determined. They are contrary to the direct problems, in which output or response are determined using information from input [59]. In order to analyze inverse problems, experimental data obtained under known boundary conditions are compared with the calculated ones. The combination of nanoindentation and FEA has proved to be a powerful analysis tool for soft polymers such as gels, and coatings, and for soft tissues [60–63].

Inverse analysis requires an optimization algorithm to extract the set of parameters for which the objective function (difference between simulation and experimental load-displacement data) attains the minimum value. The choice of the optimization algorithm for minimizing an objective function is a topic of interest. Whenever possible it is better to employ global optimization techniques. There are many variants of Simulated Annealing or Genetic Algorithm based global optimization scheme, such as evolutionary algorithms, or deterministic algorithms like the Simplex method. These algorithms have proven to be very useful in case of optimization problems where user has no prior information about the location of the solution in the parameter space, thus incapable of making a priori choices about the initial estimates.

However, in case of finite element analysis, where time required to run one single analysis can range from few minutes to even days, the success of global optimization methods come at a price of astronomical computational cost. In these cases, local optimization algorithms could prove to be useful given that the quality of initial estimates are good. However, these algorithms are gradient-based and involves computationally costly calculations of second order partial derivatives of the objective function. For an objective function f, Hessian matrix, **H** is defined by the Eq. 2.13.

$$\mathbf{H}_{i,j} = \frac{\delta^2 f}{\delta x_i \, \delta x_j} \tag{2.13}$$

Determining **H** often requires high computational cost. The cost involving calculation of Hessian matrix can be reduced if it is approximated using the Jacobian matrix, **J** (Eq. 2.15).

$$\mathbf{J}_{i,j} = \frac{\delta f_i}{\delta x_j} \tag{2.14}$$

$$\mathbf{H}_{i,j} \approx 2 \mathbf{J}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{J}$$
 (2.15)

The biggest disadvantage of gradient-based scheme is that algorithms can sometime get trapped inside a local minima. In addition to that, due to the ill-conditioned nature of inverse analysis, identifying the correct minima from a set of local minima is troublesome. Singularity in approximated Hessian matrix and non-covergence are few other problems that often trouble the local optimization techniques.



Figure 2.7: An illustration of trade-off between fidelity and computational cost [5]

## 2.5 Review of Existing Literature

## 2.5.1 Analytical Approach in Nanoindentation

A large number of studies have been conducted in an effort to determine viscoelastic behavior using nanoindentation. Cheng *et al.* derived the analytical solutions for linearly viscoelastic deformation and provided a method to measure viscoelastic properties described by a three-element standard linear solid (SLS) model using a flat-punch indenter [46]. Hernandez-Jimenez et al. studied the viscoelastic behavior of PMMA and PTFE using Maxwell model [64]. Lu et al. developed methods to measure the creep compliance of PMMA and PC polymers using spherical or Berkovich indenter by deducing closed form analytical solutions using Generalized Maxwell model [51]. Prony series parameters for the stress relaxation or creep compliance was found by curve fitting only the loading portion of the nanoindentation plot. Measurement of creep compliance from conventional tension and shear tests were compared with the nanoindentation technique, where reasonable agreement between the values from different techniques was observed. Fisher-Cripps developed creep compliance analytical closed form solutions for three-element Voigt model, four-element Maxwell–Voigt model [23]. Gonda *et al.* spherical and conical indentations on a thin polymer film on a substrate, where viscoelastic properties found by analytical equations through correspondence principal and the results were verified using finite element modeling [65]. Vanlandingham et al. investigated linear viscoelastic material analytical solutions for epoxy, PMMA and PDMS polymers, and compared the values obtained from nanoindentation with values from rheometry measurements [52]. Cheng and Cheng derived closed form solutions relating the initial unloading slope, instantaneous relaxation modulus, and contact depth for linearly viscoelastic material under a rigid and arbitrary axisymmetric shape [66]. In another study, they also derived the relationship between unloading slope, contact depth and instantaneous modulus for conical indentation [47]. Three parameter Standard Linear Solid (SLS) model has also been used to derive equations for spherical nanoindentation of viscoelastic materials [67]. Cheng et al. addressed the linear viscoelastic material indentation using three-parameter Maxwell solid [68]. Finite element simulations were conducted using these relationships to verify the solutions. Zhou and Lu developed methods to measure creep compliance and relaxation modulus in both time and frequency domains under constant and ramped loading conditions using a spherical indenter [69]. Vandamme et al. modeled using 3-parameter Maxwell model, the 4-parameter Kelvin-Voigt model and the 5-parameter combined Kelvin-Voigt-Maxwell model and derived the closed form analytical solution for conical indenter [70]. Wei *et al.* studied the viscous behavior of PMMA and PU materials using a combination of Kelvin–Voigt model and a dashpot [71]. Their model accounted for the irreversible delayed plastic (viscoplastic) deformation, irreversible viscous deformation, and reversible delayed elastic (viscoelastic) deformations. Oven and Cook examined the creep displacements as a function of time for PMMA and a few other polymers using constant loading and unloading rates [72]. They also examined the effect of triangular and trapezoidal loading profiles. For pyramidal indentation tests, a new method for estimation of time-constant was proposed. Liu *et al.* developed a model based on Burgers model and applied to understand the viscoelastic behavior of soft polymers like PMMA [54]. According to them, Burgers model provided the best agreement with the experimental data in comparison to simple Maxwell or Kelvin-Voigt model. In addition to that, they also indicated that the nose formation at the beginning of the unloading stemmed from the decrease of the viscosity parameter. Jager et al. characterized viscoelastic properties of bitumen using different spring-dashpot models for real tip geometry of the indenter [50]. Linear viscoelastic analysis based on spherical indentation experiment has also been carried out on human tympanic membrane [58]. Lin et al. studied viscoelastic behavior of PDMS micro pillars using uniaxial, DMA, nanoindentation tests, where generalized Maxwell model was used to describe the viscoelastic behavior of the material [57].

Mencik *et al.* analyzed the viscoelastic–viscoplastic behavior of material under indentation for different indenter profiles [73]. They found that materials under sharp indenter undergoes high stresses and exhibits viscoplastic effects. Chen *et al.* used dimensional analysis and finite element analysis to understand the effects of residual stress, substrate, and creep behavior on the load-displacement data [74]. Through development of some analytical solutions they showed that it is possible to obtain not only Young's modulus and hardness, but also viscoelastic properties and residual stress.

#### 2.5.2 Inverse Approach in Nanoindentation

The very first instance of applying inverse method for an indentation-based study was probably by Knapp *et al.*, where they studied the elastic–plastic behavior of Al under nanoindentation [75]. Their study showed that it was possible to extract modulus, yield strength, and hardening coefficient from the nanoindentation data of thin films using FEA based inverse analysis independent of the effect of substrate. Later, Huber *et al.* employed Artificial Neural Network (ANN)-based inverse analysis to extract material parameters from an indentation experiment of metals [76]. From that point onwards, inverse FEA-based analysis has been used to extract material properties for different classes of materials, such as, isotropic and anisotropic elastic–plastic materials [77–80], linear viscoelastic materials [81–84], hyper-elastic materials [85–88], nonlinear viscoelastic materials [89, 90], etc.

After being introduced by Knapp *et al.*, inverse FEA technique has been reported in numerous publications dealing with material property extraction for elasto-plastic materials. On the contrary, the number of studies that tackled viscoelastic nanoindentation using inverse analysis is found to be very low. The probable reasons could include the lack of understanding about the viscoelastic constitutive relationships, the high number of model parameters needing to be optimized, etc. While elasto-plastic behavior in materials has been studied for a long time, viscoelasticity is being studied only recently fueled by the recent interests in understanding polymers and biomaterials. As we are interested in the viscoelastic materials, this part of the literature will only review the related studies in the area of viscoelasticity.

Ovaert *et al.* studied on viscoelastic properties of thin polymer coatings using three- and four-parameter viscoelastic models using indentation and inverse analysis [61]. Kim and Srinivasan *et al.* extracted Fung's QLV model parameters for soft tissues using two step parameter optimization process [91]. Hartmann et al. used uniaxial test data for viscoplastic parameter identification and validated those using indentation test data [92]. Samur et al. studied the viscoelastic behavior of pig liver tissues using inverse analysis [93]. Resapu et al. extracted Prony series parameters for the relaxation behavior of PVC and PE in indentation tests [94]. Guessasma etal. determined viscoelastic properties of biopolymer composite materials [81]. Liu et al. characterized viscoelastic behavior of soft gels using Kelvin–Voigt model [82]. Rauchs identified viscous hyper-elastic and elasto-viscoplastic material parameters from indentation tests [88, 95]. Abyaneh et al. characterized porcine cornia using linear viscoelastic model [84]. Viscoelastic Arruda–Boyce constitutive model has also been studied with AFM indentation and inverse FE analysis for porcine zone pellucida [96]. Rayleigh dissipative function has been used by Abetkovskaia et al. to develop AFM based viscoelastic characterization of soft materials [97]. Valdez-Jasso et al. used inverse analysis to characterize viscoelastic behaviors of ovine aorta, where the viscoelastic behavior was modeled using arctangent and sigmoid viscoelastic models [83]. Recently, Kucuk et al. used nonlinear Burgers model to characterize the nonlinear viscoelastic behavior of PMMA and PVAc [89, 90].

Inverse analysis of nanoindentation data is challenging due to various reasons. One of this big challenge is to find out unique solution. In case of non-unique solutions, two approaches were found to be effective. In the first approach, additional information from the nanoindentation experiment is gathered, and used in the objective function. These information can include imprint geometry [77, 98, 99] or pile-up/sink-in [80] information. The other approach is to use multiple indenters with different geometry. This method has also been found to beneficial in providing unique solutions from the inverse analysis [28, 78, 100].

#### 2.6 Motivation and Objective of the Study

Nanoindentation has the potential to become a very effective material characterization tool given that appropriate analysis technique with proper constitutive relationship is used. In the last two or three decades this technique has come a long way in terms of applicability for metallic or ceramic material characterization.

However, suitable analysis technique for materials such as polymer or soft tissues is still lacking. Table 2.1 summarizes the results found from various studies that used nanoindentation technique for characterizing soft tissues. It can be seen that, for almost all the studied tissues the value of Young's modulus varied by few orders of magnitude. Part of the variability comes from the difference in experimental design and sample preparation, while most of it stemmed from the fact that these materials exhibited time-dependent deformation behavior [1]. If consistent strain rate were to be used in the experiment a more consistent Young's modulus could probably be found.

Even if we consider that the Young's modulus could be extracted reliably independent of viscoelastic influence, it would only serve as a partial knowledge about the material system. Young's modulus only quantifies the intrinsic elastic behavior of a material, which limits its usefulness only to metals or crystalline solids.

In the attempts to understand or characterize the time–dependent properties inherent to soft polymers and biomaterials, most researchers simplified the behavior of these materials as linear viscoelastic. In fact most of the studies that used nanoindentation to characterize viscoelastic materials used linear viscoelastic theory developed through 'Correspondence Principal'. In addition to the fact that material behavior is simplified as linear viscoelastic, correspondence principal based analytical solutions

Tissue	Range	Average	Reference
	(kPa)	Young's	
		modulus	
		(kPa)	
Liver and Kidney	0.6-760	190	[101 - 103]
Artery and Vein	6.5-560	125	[104-106]
Skin	6-222	85	[101, 107, 108]
Cornea anterior base	7.5-50	29	[109]
Breast tissue	0.167-29	8	[6,  7,  110]
Muscle	2-12	7	[106, 111]
Spinal cord and gray matter	0.2-7	3	[112, 113]

Table 2.1: Young's modulus of soft tissues, measured by indentation [1]

has further limitations *i.e.* useful only till contact area increases monotonically (loading portion of the nanoindentation plot). As a result, this method fails to address how viscous behavior affects the unloading curve of the nanoindentation experiment, although substantial amount of information about the material behavior is present in the unloading portion of the curve.

To best of our knowledge, no analytical or closed-form solutions (in either differential or integral form) exist for indentation of quasi-linear or nonlinear viscoelastic material. However, soft tissues and polymers are generally nonlinearly viscoelastic [56, 114], where the creep compliance or relaxation modulus are a nonlinear function of both time and applied stress or strain. In these cases, an appropriate constitutive law should be used to describe the distinct behaviors of these materials [115]. Due to the fact that, no closed form solution can be obtained for nonlinear viscoelastic behavior, many researchers tried modeling the behavior of the material using Fung's Quasilinear Viscoelastic (QLV) model [114]. Fung's model however considers the material to be nonlinear only with respect to strain [116], and fails to represent the full spectrum of nonlinearity of the material.

The closest work that tackled nonlinear viscoelastic behavior of the material was by Kucuk *et al.* [89, 90]. In these studies, a nonlinear viscoelastic model based on modified Burgers model was used. The unknown model parameters were then obtained using inverse analysis. However, the authors did not provided any information about the inverse analysis procedure that was followed. Without such key information obtaining the values of the model parameter for other material system is difficult. In addition to that, their study utilized quite a high number of parameters in the nonlinear model without providing any information about whether all the parameters were required to capture the behavior or not.

To understand the full spectrum of mechanical behavior in soft biomaterials and polymers, an study is thus required which would improve on the limitations of previous studies. Because without understanding the mechanical behavior, it would be impossible to predict the behavior of these materials under complex loading scenarios.



Figure 2.8: Viscoelasticity a) linear and b) nonlinear

In order to develop a nonlinear viscoelastic model for soft materials, we propose to implement finite element analysis with inverse analysis. The process is called the inverse analysis because it is the opposite of an ordinary simulation (*i.e.* solving for forces or displacements given material parameters and boundary conditions). The inverse method permit us to treat any material models with nonlinear properties and to include further affecting factors in the numerical model. The rate-dependent properties of materials can be more accurately identified using the inverse method.

The whole process of developing nonlinear viscoelastic model can be subdivided in few steps. In the first step, a finite element model of the nanoindentation experiment is required which can effectively simulate the experiment. For this work, we have chosen commercially available finite element analysis software–ABAQUS. Confidence was established on the ABAQUS representation of the nanoindentation experiment by comparing the simulation results with the well established analytical solution from contact theory.

In the next step, an appropriate spring–dashpot system for describing these kind of materials needs to be developed. The associated mathematical model for the spring–dashpot system has to be incorporated in the ABAQUS simulation of the nanoindentation experiment via user-defined subroutine called UMAT.

In the final step, an optimization based algorithm needs to be established, which will be able to minimize the difference between the simulated and experimentally found load–displacement data. This study will use both the loading and unloading portion of the nanoindentation experiment in the model development process; because unloading curve would provide additional constraints which a successful model must satisfy. In addition, this will provide additional validation of the viscoelastic model parameters extracted from nanoindentation data.

One of the main issue in inverse analysis based model development is the high computation cost associated with the optimization process. In case of a nonlinear model, the number of model parameters that needs to be optimized is usually high. In addition to that, nonlinear FEA analysis requires considerably higher computational cost due to the continuous updating procedure of global stiffness matrix. This updating process is a serious drawback for FEA-based realtime optimization applications [12]. That is why, improving the computational efficiency in the inverse analysis process is another important objective of this study.

## CHAPTER 3

#### DEVELOPMENT OF THE TECHNIQUE

#### 3.1 Nonlinear Viscoelastic Mathematical Model

There are a few nonlinear viscoelastic models in the literature but to date it appears that none of these models can describe the nonlinearly viscoelastic behavior of a polymer under all loading and environmental conditions [117]. Under a given set of loading conditions, however, an appropriate nonlinearly constitutive model can be used to model the viscoelastic response.

In this study, a spring–dashpot model suggested by Marin and Pao [118] was used. In linear case this model is generally called four-parameter Burgers model [119] and it is formed by a serial connection of a Maxwell element to a Voigt element as seen in Fig. 3.1. For an increased relaxation spectrum, the viscoelastic response can be modeled by increasing the number of Voigt elements.

The nonlinear characteristic is introduced when the dashpot constants ( $m_s$  and  $m_t$ ) take values other than unity. In the three-dimensional model, the total strains are calculated as the summation of the elastic ( $\epsilon^e$ ), transient creep ( $\epsilon^t$ ), and steady creep strains ( $\epsilon^s$ ) [120]. In this study, the nonlinear creep deformation is assumed to be incompressible. Under these assumptions, the three-dimensional nonlinearly viscoelastic law can be expressed as:

$$\epsilon_{ij}^e = \frac{1+\nu}{E}\sigma_{ij} - \frac{\nu}{E}\sigma_{kk}\delta_{ij} \tag{3.1}$$
Nonlinear Burgers Model



Figure 3.1: Schematic of nonlinear Burger's model

$$\dot{\epsilon}_{ij}^s = C_s J_2^{m_s}(t) s_{ij}(t) \tag{3.2}$$

$$\dot{\epsilon}_{ij}^t + \frac{\epsilon_{ij}^t}{t_{\epsilon}} = \frac{C_t}{t_{\epsilon}} J_2^{m_t}(t) s_{ij}(t)$$
(3.3)

where E,  $\nu$  are the Young's modulus and Poisson ratio, respectively;  $J_2$  is the second invariant of the deviator stress tensor s;  $C_s$ ,  $C_t$ ,  $m_s$ ,  $m_t$ ,  $t_{\epsilon}$  are the nonlinear material parameters.  $\sigma$  is the Cauchy stress tensor; i, j are the indices ranging among 1, 2 and 3.  $\delta_{ij}$  is the Kronecker delta which used in the context of summation convention with the well-known property  $\delta_{ij} = 1$  when i = j and  $\delta_{ij} = 0$ . Small deformations are assumed in the formulation. When more than one Voigt element is included in the model, the total strain components can be given as the sum of elastic, steady creep, and transient creep components for all Voigt elements,

$$\epsilon_{ij} = \epsilon^e_{ij} + \epsilon^s_{ij} + \epsilon^t_{ij} = \epsilon^e_{ij} + \epsilon^s_{ij} + \sum_{i=1}^n \epsilon^{t_i}_{ij}$$
(3.4)

where n is the number of Voigt elements shown in Fig. Equations 3.2 and 3.3 can also be written in integral form:

$$\epsilon_{ij}^{s} = C_s \int_0^t J_2^{m_s}(t') s_{ij}(t') dt'$$
(3.5)

$$\epsilon_{ij}^{t} = \frac{C_t}{t_{\epsilon}} e^{(-t/t_{\epsilon})} \int_0^t J_2^{m_t}(t') s_{ij}(t') e^{(-t'/t_{\epsilon})} dt'$$
(3.6)

ABAQUS/Standard finite element code is used as the implementation platform. Although ABAQUS has a rich material library for various applications, a nonlinearly viscoelastic model suitable for this work was not available. In this study, a UMAT was developed in order to implement the nonlinear Burgers model. UMAT requires the tangent stiffness matrix of the material model for finite element calculations. For implementation of the nonlinear Burgers viscoelastic model, the UMAT involves mainly temporal discretization. This was done following the procedure implemented by Kucuk *et al.* [89, 90].

A simple, stable integration operator for these equations is the central difference operator:

$$\dot{f}_{t+\frac{1}{2}\Delta t} = \frac{\Delta f}{\Delta t}, f_{t+\frac{1}{2}\Delta t} = f_t + \frac{\Delta f}{2}$$
(3.7)

where f is a function,  $f_t$  is its value at the beginning of the increment,  $\Delta f$  is the change in the function over the increment, and  $\Delta t$  is the time increment.

Tangent stiffness matrix  $\delta\Delta\sigma/\delta\Delta\epsilon$  of the constitutive model, with  $\Delta\sigma$  being the stress increments and  $\Delta\epsilon$  the strain increments, can be derived by applying central difference operator to the rate-dependent constitutive equations (Eq. 3.1–3.3).

Applying the central difference method to the elastic strain component as depicted

in Eq. 3.1, yields

$$\epsilon_{ij}^e + \frac{1}{2}\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^e = \frac{1+\nu}{E}\left(\sigma_{ij} + \frac{1}{2}\Delta\sigma_{ij}\right) - \frac{\nu}{E}\left(\sigma_{kk} + \frac{1}{2}\Delta\sigma_{kk}\right)\delta_{ij}$$
(3.8)

If the elastic Hooke's law is defined by Eq. 3.9, the elastic compliance matrix, C is defined by Eq. 3.10.

$$C = \frac{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^{e}}{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{kk}} = \begin{bmatrix} 1/E & -\nu/E & -\nu/E & 0 & 0 & 0\\ & 1/E & -\nu/E & 0 & 0 & 0\\ & & 1/E & 0 & 0 & 0\\ & & & \frac{1+\nu}{E} & 0 & 0\\ & & & & \frac{1+\nu}{E} & 0\\ & & & & & \frac{1+\nu}{E} \end{bmatrix}_{symmetric}$$
(3.9)

Similar procedure as applied to Eq. 3.2 for steady creep component gives

$$\frac{\Delta \epsilon_{ij}^s}{\Delta t} = C_s J_2^{m_s} \left( t + \frac{\Delta t}{2} \right) \left( s_{ij}(t) + \frac{1}{2} \Delta s_{ij} \right)$$
(3.11)

Assuming  $J_2(t) \approx J_2(t + \frac{1}{2}\Delta t)$ , we have

$$\Delta \epsilon^s = \Delta t C_s J_2^{m_s}(t) s_{ij}(t) + \frac{1}{2} \Delta t C_s J_2^{m_s}(t) \Delta s_{ij}$$
(3.12)

$$\frac{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^s}{\delta\Delta\sigma_{ij}} = \frac{1}{2}\Delta t C_s J_2^{m_s}(t) \tag{3.13}$$

Since  $s_{ij} = \sigma_{ij} - \frac{1}{3}\sigma_{kk}\delta_{ij}$ , we have

$$\frac{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^s}{\delta\Delta\sigma_{ij}} = \frac{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^s}{\delta\Delta s_{ij}}\frac{\delta\Delta s_{ij}^s}{\delta\Delta\sigma_{ij}} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{3}\Delta tC_s J_2^{m_s}(t), & \text{if } i = j, \\ \frac{1}{2}\Delta tC_s J_2^{m_s}(t), & \text{if } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$
(3.14)

The compliance matrix of steady creep then can be written as

$$C = \Delta t C_s J_2^{m_s}(t) \begin{bmatrix} 1/3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1/3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ & 1/3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ & & 1/2 & 0 & 0 \\ & & & 1/2 & 0 \\ & & & & 1/2 \end{bmatrix}_{symmetric}$$
(3.15)

Finally for the transient creep component as defined in Eq. 3.3, we have

$$\frac{\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^t}{\Delta t} + \frac{1}{t_\epsilon} \left(\epsilon_{ij} + \frac{1}{2}\Delta\epsilon_{ij}\right) = \frac{C_t}{t_\epsilon} J_2^{m_t} \left(t + \frac{\Delta t}{2}\right) \left(s_{ij}(t) + \frac{1}{2}\Delta s_{ij}\right)$$
(3.16)

$$\Delta \epsilon^{t} = \frac{1}{2t_{\epsilon} + \Delta t} \left( 2\Delta t C_{t} J_{2}^{m_{t}}(t) s_{ij}(t) - 2\Delta t \epsilon^{t} + \Delta t C_{t} J_{2}^{m_{t}}(t) \Delta s_{ij} \right)$$
(3.17)

$$\frac{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^t}{\delta\Delta\sigma_{ij}} = \frac{\Delta t}{2t_\epsilon + \Delta t} C_t J_2^{m_t}(t)$$
(3.18)

The compliance matrix of transient creep can then be written as

$$C = \frac{\Delta t}{2t_{\epsilon} + \Delta t} C_t J_2^{m_t}(t) \begin{bmatrix} 2/3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2/3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ & 2/3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ & & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ & & & 1 & 0 \\ & & & & 1 \end{bmatrix}_{symmetric}$$
(3.19)

From Eq. 3.4, the total compliance is now

$$\frac{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{ij}}{\delta\Delta\sigma_{kl}} = \frac{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^e}{\delta\Delta\sigma_{kl}} + \frac{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^s}{\delta\Delta\sigma_{kl}} + \frac{\delta\Delta\epsilon_{ij}^t}{\delta\Delta\sigma_{kl}}$$
(3.20)

By investigating the total compliance matrix, system tangent stiffness matrix (Jacobian matrix)  $\delta\Delta\sigma_{ij}/\delta\Delta\epsilon_{kl}$  can be obtained from Eq. 3.20. It should be noted that

the Jacobian matrix in Eq. 3.20 accounts only for the elastic deformation and creep deformation caused by load or stress increment. It is seen from Eq. 3.12 and 3.17 that the aforementioned creep strain is just a small part of the total steady and transient creep strain. The rest of the creep strain is developed over the time period during the time increment and controlled by the applied stress. An artificial stress increment is introduced to include this creep strain in the system equation. This part of creep strain can be extracted from Eq. 3.12 and 3.17 as

$$\Delta \epsilon' = \Delta t C_t J_2^{m_t}(t) s_{ij}(t) + \frac{1}{2t_\epsilon + \Delta t} (2\Delta t C_t J_2^{m_t}(t) s_{ij}(t) - 2\Delta t \epsilon^t)$$
(3.21)

A stress increment  $\Delta \sigma' = C \Delta \epsilon'$  is then added into the system equation to account for the creep strain in Eq. 3.21, with C being the Jacobian stiffness matrix calculated from Eq. 3.20.

#### 3.2 Finite Element Modeling

The 3D finite element model of nanoindentation experiment was constructed using commercial finite element package ABAQUS (Dassault Systémes, Providence, RI). The indenter in a nanoindentation experiment is made with diamond and possess very high Young's modulus. So, it is possible to model the indenter as analytical rigid body. Finite element solver does not require calculating stress and strains in an analytical rigid body, hence reduces the computational time.

Berkovich indenter can also be modeled as a 2D axisymmetric conical indenter with an effective cone angle [23]. The effective cone angle is calculated in a manner so that it provides the same area to depth relationship as the actual Berkovich indenter. The benefit of using a 2D model is that it requires less computation time compared to a 3D model. Nonetheless, a 3D model was implemented in this study to achieve higher accuracy in simulating the nanoindentation experiment.

Even after adopting few simplifications, modeling nanoindentation experiment is

still very challenging due to the several nonlinearities associated with the experiment (boundary, geometrical and material nonlinearity). Studies showed that, in case of modeling complex geometries, it is beneficial to model rigid elements as discrete rigid body rather than analytical rigid body. So, the Berkovich indenter was modeled as discrete rigid body, while the sample was modeled as deformable body.

To ensure accuracy of the simulation results, the sample was modeled with finer mesh near the contact area where the stress and strain generated was much higher due to the singularity dominated zone. The contact between the indenter and the sample was defined as surface-to-surface contact, where the indenter was designated as *master surface* and the sample was as designated as *slave surface*. The element types for the sample was chosen from the eight-node brick element family (C3D8). Material behavior of the sample was defined in the model using a subroutine called (UMAT). The mathematical development of a nonlinear viscoelastic constitutive relationship was required to code the UMAT, which development was covered in the previous section.

### 3.3 Inverse Analysis

In order to facilitate the identification of global solution in the parameter space, our study implemented surrogate modeling approach. Surrogate models, also known as metamodels are particularly useful in case of finite element based inverse analysis.

Figure 3.2 shows the typical workflow of an inverse analysis for nanoindentation based model parameter extraction. Due to the fact that in every iteration of the inverse analysis one finite element analysis is required, the high computational cost involving the inverse analysis becomes the limiting factor in determining the correct solution. If finite element analysis can be replaced with a surrogate model, which is a numerical approximation of the input–output relationship, the total computational cost can be dramatically reduced. In a nutshell, use of surrogate model can effectively reduce the computational cost while still keeping the fidelity of the solution adequately high.



Figure 3.2: Typical inverse method flowchart

In this study, surrogate model is built by utilizing two numerical techniques named as Proper Orthogonal Decomposition (POD) and Radial Basis Function (RBF). Proper Orthogonal Decomposition (POD), also known as Principal Component Analysis (PCA) technique can be used with either experimental or simulated field data to derive a reduced-order set of basis functions capable of being used in a numerical representation of the system [121]. POD reduced-order approximation has been shown to provide accurate numerical representations for complex systems with minimal computational cost [122–124]. In addition, POD has been applied to several inverse problem methodologies, such as optimal control [125–128], and nondestructive testing and system identification [129–133]. However, work has yet to be shown (to our knowledge) for using POD reduced-order modeling for inverse viscoelastic material characterization from quasi-static indentation testing.

As a means of correlating unclear data using only spatial lines and planes, the concept of proper orthogonal decomposition (POD) was first developed over a century ago as a statistical tool by Pearson [134]. Since then POD has been redeveloped under various names and has been used in numerous different applications from signal processing and control theory, human face recognition, data compression, parameter estimation and many others [135]. POD is also known as Karhunen–Loeve Decomposition (KLD), Principal Component Analysis (PCA) or Singular Value Decomposition (SVD) [135–137]. In the recent past, POD has been increasingly used in many engineering applications ranging from computational fluid dynamics (CFD) to modeling of heat transfer problems due to its ability to reduce computational burden while maintaining adequately high accuracy.

For simple understanding of the POD technique, one should imagine a collection of vectors inside a Cartesian coordinate system. If these vectors are parallel to one another it could be assumed that these are correlated. On the other hand, uncorrelated would mean that these vectors are orthogonal (or perpendicular) to one another.

POD's major objective is to rotate the coordinate system in such a manner so that the least amount of coordinates can be used to define the system. As an example, we know that a vector in cartesian coordinate system requires two projections (x- and yaxis projection) to be effectively defined. However, if the coordinate system is rotated only one projection can define the same vector. In case of complicated data sets, the number of rotated coordinates would be higher for effective representation of the data. In such cases, POD captures the maximum projection of the vectors in the first rotated coordinate, which is commonly referred to as the first principal component. The second axis in the POD frame, called the second principal component, captures the next orthogonal direction with the largest projection and so on.

POD is completely data dependent and does not assume any prior knowledge of the process that generates the data. This property is advantageous in situations where a priori knowledge of the underlying process is insufficient. POD does not neglect the nonlinearities of the original vector field. If the original system is nonlinear, then the resulting POD reduced order model will also be nonlinear.

## 3.3.1 Proper Orthogonal Decomposition (POD) Theory

If a function  $\mathbf{U}(x)$  is needed to be approximated over some domain of interest, it can be written as the following equation through a linear combination of few basis functions  $\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{i}(x)$ .

$$\mathbf{U}(x) \approx \sum_{i=1}^{M} a_i \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi}_i(x) \tag{3.22}$$

Here  $a_i$  represents the unknown coefficients. Once basis functions are known, the coefficient values are obtained in a least square means.

$$\min \left\| \left| \mathbf{U}(x) - \sum_{i=1}^{M} a_i \cdot \varphi_i(x) \right| \right\|^{L^2}$$
(3.23)

For any function  $\mathbf{U}(x)$ , number of choices can be made regarding the selection of basis function. Based on one's expertise and prior knowledge about the system being represented, one can often opt for a basis constructed from polynomial, trigonometric, or exponential functions. Proper Orthogonal Decomposition (POD) is one such technique that can be used to construct the optimal basis for a function under investigation in a least square sense.

The derivation of POD presented in subsequent paragraphs refers to arbitrary case of vectors with dimensionality N>2. The notations presented in this section is congruent with Buljak [138].

POD starts with the idea of snapshots. Snapshots can be defined as an one-toone relationship between the input and output of a system. In a typical scenario of an inverse finite element nanoindentation simulation, snapshots are the relation of material model parameters and output load–displacement data. In more concrete definition, a snapshot will be a collection of N discrete values of a certain state variable resulting from a simulation (which represents a system) collected in vector  $\mathbf{u}_i$ , corresponding to some input parameters (collected in vector  $\mathbf{p}_i$ ) on which the solution depends. A system can also be represented by an experiment, where snapshot will store the measurements taken from an experiment.



Figure 3.3: Input output relationship in a typical system

Further, a set of M different snapshots, corresponding to different input parameters, can be collected in a rectangular  $N \times M$  matrix **U**, called the snapshot matrix.

$$\mathbf{U} = \begin{bmatrix} u_1^1 & u_1^2 & \cdots & u_1^M \\ u_2^1 & u_2^2 & \cdots & u_2^M \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ u_N^1 & u_N^2 & \cdots & u_N^M \end{bmatrix}$$

Therefore, a snapshot matrix represents a collection of responses of one system, under given conditions, corresponding to different values of parameters on which the solution depends. This snapshot matrix can be interpreted as a set of M, Ndimensional vectors. Each vector corresponds to one parameter combination. In the context of inverse finite element analysis for model parameter extraction, it can be said that the inputs to the system that are changing from one snapshot to another are some parameters entering into the constitutive model of material, while the boundary conditions and initial conditions are the same for all of the snapshots. So,  $\mathbf{u}_i$  contains N number of individual displacement data for N number of corresponding load increments, while the whole snapshot matrix,  $\mathbf{U}$  contains M number of individual finite element simulations.

It is reasonable to expect that there will be a strong correlation between these snapshot vectors since they represent the outputs of the same system where just some material model parameters are changed. The POD theory can be effectively applied on the snapshot matrix, allowing to construct a new basis in which the dimensionality can be drastically cut-down to  $K \ll N$ . POD finds the most accurate representation in some subspace W with the dimension of  $K \ll N$ . If we denote  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \ldots, \varphi_K$  as the orthonormal basis of the subspace W, then each vector from the original set can be written as

$$\mathbf{u}_i \approx \sum_{j=1}^K \bar{a}_{ij} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi}_j, i = 1, \dots, N$$
(3.24)

where  $\bar{a}_{ij}$  are amplitudes corresponding to  $i^{th}$  vector in new subspace W, and  $\bar{\Phi}$  is matrix that collects all the orthonormal basis of the subspace  $\varphi_j$ . In a least square sense the error of approximation then becomes

$$\operatorname{error} = \left\| \left\| \mathbf{u}_i - \sum_{j=1}^{K} \bar{a}_{ij} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi}^i(x) \right\| \right\|^{L^2}$$
(3.25)

Eq. 3.25 provides the error for only the  $i^{th}$  vector. For all the vectors in the snapshot, total error is expressed by the Eq. 3.26:

$$E = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\| \left\| \mathbf{u}_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{K} \bar{a}_{ij} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{i}(x) \right\| \right\|^{L^{2}} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\| \left\| \mathbf{u}_{i} \right\|^{2} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{K} a_{ij} \mathbf{u}_{i}^{T} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{K} a_{ij}^{2} \right\|^{2}$$
(3.26)

The orthonormal basis has to be chosen in such a manner so that total error is minimized. To do that, first order derivate of total error with respect to all the unknowns (namely  $\bar{a}_{ij}$ ) are needed. Taking partial derivative of total error:

$$\frac{\delta E}{\delta a_{lm}} = -2\mathbf{u}_l^T \boldsymbol{\varphi}_m + 2a_{lm} \tag{3.27}$$

$$a_{lm} = \mathbf{u}_l^T \boldsymbol{\varphi}_m \tag{3.28}$$

By substitution of  $a_{lm}$  in Eq. 3.26:

$$E = \sum_{i=1}^{N} ||\mathbf{u}_{i}||^{2} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{K} (\mathbf{u}_{i}^{T} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j}) \mathbf{u}_{i}^{T} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{K} (\mathbf{u}_{i}^{T} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j})^{2}$$
(3.29)

Few more mathematical manipulation provides:

$$E = \sum_{i=1}^{N} ||\mathbf{u}_{i}||^{2} - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{K} (\mathbf{u}_{i}^{T} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j})^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} ||\mathbf{u}_{i}||^{2} - \sum_{j=1}^{K} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j}^{T} \mathbf{C} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j}$$
(3.30)

where **C** is called the covariance matrix defined as  $\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{U}\mathbf{U}^T$ . The first part of Eq. 3.30 is a scalar constant which depends on the original set of snapshots. So, in order to reduce the error of approximation one has to maximize  $\sum_{j=1}^{K} \varphi_j^T \mathbf{C} \varphi_j$  under the constraint of orthonormality of the new basis  $\varphi_j^T \varphi_j = 1, j = 1, \ldots, K$ . By using Lagrange multipliers method the constrained problem can be converted into

$$\max \sum_{j=1}^{K} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j}^{T} \mathbf{C} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{K} \lambda_{j} (\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j}^{T} \mathbf{C} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j} - 1)$$
(3.31)

In order to maximize Eq. 3.31 first order derivatives with respect to  $\varphi_j$  is required. By doing that we find

$$\frac{d}{d\varphi_j} \sum_{j=1}^{K} \varphi_j^T \mathbf{C} \varphi_j - \sum_{j=1}^{K} \lambda_j (\varphi_j^T \mathbf{C} \varphi_j - 1) = 2\mathbf{C} \varphi_j - 2\lambda_j \varphi_j = 0$$
(3.32)

Eq. 3.32 is only satisfied if  $\varphi_j$  is eigenvector and  $\lambda_j$  is the corresponding eigenvalue of matrix **C**. Now from taking Eq. 3.32 and Eq. 3.30 into consideration the total error equation can be changed to

$$E = \sum_{i=1}^{N} ||\mathbf{u}_i||^2 - \sum_{j=1}^{K} \lambda_j$$
(3.33)

Recalling that the first term is a constant it results that the error of approximation is minimized if the new basis is constructed of K eigenvectors that are corresponding to the first K largest eigenvalues of covariance matrix  $\mathbf{C}$ 

$$\bar{\Phi} = [\boldsymbol{\varphi}_j], \qquad j = 1, \dots, K \tag{3.34}$$

If the subspace W is constructed with all the eigenvectors of matrix  $\mathbf{C}$ , there is no error of approximation because in that case all the vectors  $u_i$  are just expressed in a different coordinate basis. Approximation in any other subspace that uses smaller number of eigenvectors the error of approximation is found using the following equation

$$E = 1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{K} \lambda_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{M} \lambda_i}$$
(3.35)

which is the ratio between the summation of kept eigenvalues and summation of all the eigenvalues.

In this study, POD is used to determine the displacement of the indenter tip inside the material, by finding the correction from results of FE simulations of the nanoindentation experiment with different material model parameter sets. This process is called the method of snapshots [138]. The snapshot matrix, **U** then consists of the resulting indenter displacement that are expected to be somewhat correlated.

### 3.3.2 Radial Basis Function Theory

Radial Basis Functions (RBF) are very effective in providing an output approximation of a multivariable function for an unknown input point in the parameter space through interpolation of information from the known points [139]. In this section a very brief description of RBF is provided. The procedure through which RBFs can be combined with the information from POD to solve the inverse problem is also be discussed in the following paragraphs.

As mentioned earlier RBF is a very effective interpolation technique. To illustrate the idea of RBF, let us assume a function  $f(\mathbf{x})$  for which we only know N number of input-output relations. Let us also assume,  $\mathbf{x}$  is a point in the parameter space for which we want to approximate the function's value, where  $\mathbf{x}$  is a M-dimensional vector. Classical interpolation methods use only the information around the point  $\mathbf{x}$ to provide the approximation. The biggest difference that RBF provides in a similar scenario is that it uses all the N number of input-output relationship to build one continuous function over the whole domain. Therefore, the actual function  $f(\mathbf{x})$  is approximated as a linear combination of some function  $g_i$ 

$$f(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \beta_i g_i(\mathbf{x})$$
(3.36)

where  $\beta_i$  are coefficients of this combination. This equation is complete when the basis functions  $g_i$  and the coefficients  $\beta_i$  are known. Various Radial Basis Functions

can be chosen as basis function  $g_i$ . Most notable few are given below—

Linear splines, 
$$||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_i||$$
 (3.37)

Cubic splines, 
$$||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_j||^3$$
 (3.38)

Gaussian, exp
$$\left(\frac{-||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_j||}{c_j^2}\right)$$
 (3.39)

Multiquadratic, 
$$\sqrt{1 + \frac{||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_j||^2}{c_j^2}}$$
 (3.40)

Inverse Multiquadratic, 
$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_j||^2 + c_j^2}}$$
 (3.41)

For an unknown point  $\mathbf{x}$  in parameter space, the linear spline RBF will provide the basis  $g_i$  using the following manner

$$g_i(\mathbf{x}) = g||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_i||, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, N$$
(3.42)

For determining the coefficients  $\beta_i$ , known N values of the function in the  $\mathbf{x}_i$  nodes are used in such a manner so that the RBFs approximate exact values of the function at the known points. This is solved using the following equation

$$f(\mathbf{x}_j) = y_j = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \beta_i g_i(\mathbf{x}_j), \qquad j = 1, 2, \dots, N$$
 (3.43)

where  $y_j$  are the known values of the function. In compact manner Eq. 3.43 can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}.\mathbf{G} = \mathbf{Y} \tag{3.44}$$

where

$$\mathbf{G} = \begin{bmatrix} g_1(\mathbf{x}_1) & g_2(\mathbf{x}_1) & \cdots & g_N(\mathbf{x}_1) \\ g_1(\mathbf{x}_2) & g_2(\mathbf{x}_2) & \cdots & g_N(\mathbf{x}_2) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g_1(\mathbf{x}_N) & g_2(\mathbf{x}_N) & \cdots & g_N(\mathbf{x}_N) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$oldsymbol{eta} = [eta_1, eta_2, \cdots, eta_N]^T$$
  
 $\mathbf{Y} = [y_1, y_2, \cdots, y_N]^T$ 

Eq. 3.44 can be solved for unknown interpolation coefficients  $\beta_i$ , which can then be used to obtain approximated values of the function in any given points in the parameter space. For a particular sampling set N,  $\beta_i$  is only need to be determined once. In matrix notation Eq. 3.44 can be written as

$$\mathbf{B}.\mathbf{G} = \mathbf{Y} \tag{3.45}$$

As RBF takes into account the whole set of input–output relationship of a system, it can provide much more informed approximation compared to the classical local interpolation schemes. Another important advantage of using RBF is that the sampling of N in the parameter space need not to follow any particular distribution (in other words, can be scattered). However, particular distribution of sampling points help to keep the error of approximation under control.

# 3.3.3 Combining POD–RBF for Approximation

The ability of POD is to create a reduced order model by truncating orthogonal basis or dimensions. In a manner, POD works as a data compression tool where the loss of data is negligible. On the other hand, RBF provides the ability to approximate a function with high fidelity in between the known values in a multivariable parameter space. If both techniques are combined we can get a tool that can essentially provide high quality output approximation without incurring the huge computational cost associated with finite element analysis during an inverse analysis.

In context of nanoindentation study, let us assume vector  $\mathbf{p}$  collects the material model parameters and  $\mathbf{u}$  collects the output of the simulation (load or displacement data). Our goal is to find a function such that  $f(\mathbf{p}) = \mathbf{u}$ . This function needs to approximate the output of the simulation over some domain in parameter space.

Following the theory related to POD, a reduced dimension model of snapshot matrix,  $\mathbf{U}$  can be developed where  $\bar{\mathbf{A}}$  represents the reduced order of amplitudes. In reduced dimension, the aforementioned equation can be written as

$$f_a(\mathbf{p}) = \bar{\mathbf{a}} \tag{3.46}$$

where, the relation between the reduced model and full model is given by the following equation

$$f(\mathbf{p}) = \bar{\Phi}.f_a(\mathbf{p}) = \mathbf{u} \tag{3.47}$$

If RBF is applied Eq. 3.46 can be expressed in following manner

$$f_a(\mathbf{p}) = \mathbf{B}.\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{p}) \tag{3.48}$$

Once the basis function is known, interpolation coefficients collected in matrix  $\mathbf{B}$  is solved in the reduced space using the following equation

$$\mathbf{B}.\mathbf{G} = \bar{\mathbf{A}} \tag{3.49}$$

Then the final equation that will provide the approximation of the system response for any arbitrary set of parameter in the subspace is given by

$$\mathbf{u} \approx \bar{\Phi}.\mathbf{B}.\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{p})$$
 (3.50)

Eq. 3.50 involves simple matrix multiplication, and thus can provide much faster turnaround time when compared to finite element simulation. This is particularly useful for inverse analysis where a large part of computational effort is directed towards running simulation inside the optimization loop. It is also a simple approach, where the training of the POD–RBF (obtaining the matrices  $\bar{\Phi}$  and **B**) is done only once. Moreover, once trained this technique can provide high enough computation accuracy, which can even be improved with a larger sampling points.

#### 3.4 Taguchi Design of Experiments for Sensitivity Analysis

In any process where the output is influenced by multiple number of parameters, there is a need for the information that how individual parameters affect the overall output. In other words, it is useful to know the sensitivity of an output to an input parameter change. This need gave rise to an independent area of research inside statistics called *Design of Experiments (DOE)*.

Traditionally, researchers used to carry out experiments where only one of the parameter was changed within a certain range while keeping the other parameters constant. Then the same process was to be replicated for the other parameters. This method is called full factorial experimental design, where the number of experiments required to perform the sensitivity analysis is astronomical. On the contrary, Taguchi applied the concept of orthogonal arrays, where all factors are changed simultaneously. For an experiment involving three parameters changing in four levels, the number of experiments required by Taguchi method is only 16, while full factorial design requires 64 independent experiments.

To perform a systematic sensitivity analysis first an experimental design is required. It is done by choosing an orthogonal array depending on the *degrees of freedom* (Eq. 3.51):

$$df^{exp} = \sum df^{factor} + \sum df^{interaction}$$
(3.51)

If  $k^A$  is the number of levels for factor A, then  $df^A = k^A - 1$ . The experiments are conducted based on the chosen orthogonal array. By employing suitable analysis technique, such as Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) one can determine the contribution of individual parameters contribution towards the output. ANOVA is an useful statistical tool for quantitative determination of influence of any given input parameter and it can be used to interpret experimental data.

## CHAPTER 4

## APPLICATION OF THE PROPOSED TECHNIQUE

The main objective of this study was to use an inverse analysis technique to extract material model parameters for a nonlinear viscoelastic model from a nanoindentation experiment. There were three big challenges to this problem —

- 1. Modeling nanoindentation experiment using finite element analysis
- 2. Incorporating nonlinear viscoelastic model in the finite element simulation
- 3. Developing the optimization routine to extract the model parameters

In last chapter modeling of the nanoindentation experiment for a Berkovich tip using commercial software package ABAQUS was described. To verify that the ABAQUS model was in fact able to simulate the nanoindentation experiment, a simple elastic indentation simulation was performed. From the simulation corresponding load and displacement data were obtained, which was compared against Hertzian analytical solution provided by Sneddon. Figure 4.1 shows the comparison of analytical and simulated load-displacement data. It can be seen that, although it was not a perfect match, simulated data closely followed the analytical data. Attaining perfect match between simulation and analytical data is not very practical as it means going for very fine meshing in the simulation model thus increasing the computational expense exponentially.

The second challenge which was to incorporate nonlinear viscoelastic model in the finite element simulation has also been solved. This required discretizing the constitutive mathematical model for time step,  $\Delta t$ . A detailed description of the numerical approach that was involved in developing the equations required for finite element approach has been presented in the previous chapter.



Figure 4.1: Load-displacement behavior of a Berkovich nanoindentation

The third challenge, which was the most critical of the three, has been solved by combining two separate technique, *i.e.* Proper Orthogonal Decomposition and Radial Basis Functions. The nonlinear viscoelastic model of our choice has seven unknown parameters of interest that needs to be extracted using the POD–RBF technique. As discussed in the previous chapter, POD–RBF technique needs *snapshots* of the system to become trained in approximating the system.

The process of training a surrogate model is often referred as sampling. A simple way of sampling the parameter space can be the grid system, where the distance between the sampling points for a parameter is kept constant over the domain of interest. If every unknown parameter is sampled m times over its domain, for nnumber of unknown parameters a total of  $m^n$  simulations will be required. This would be a large number of finite element simulations to handle. Hence, in order to verify the POD–RBF technique's ability in solving an inverse problem, first a rather simple problem where the number of unknown parameters are less were chosen. This was done in order to investigate the key properties of a POD–RBF based surrogate model, which could later be utilized to increase the confidence in POD–RBF technique for the ultimate application *i.e.* parameter identification of nonlinear Burger's model.

The performance or the ability of the POD–RBF based surrogate model to precisely approximate the FE simulation depends on couple of parameters, namely number of training points used and the choice of RBF. Higher number of training points relating input parameters to system output improves the quality of surrogate model's approximation at the expense of higher number of FE simulations. Although being offline or outside optimization loop, optimizing the number of training points is crucial since it directly relates to the computational cost of the overall inverse analysis.

There are only handful of articles in the literature that have tackled the inverse problem of nanoindentation-based material model calibration using POD–RBF based surrogate models [77, 140–146]. Furthermore, to our best of our knowledge, none of the previous studies reported if the performance of the surrogate model could be optimized with respect of number of training points. In addition, the choice of an RBF, which affects the performance of the surrogate model, has also not been investigated at depth. Prior studies have typically employed only one kind of RBF in an *ad hoc* manner without providing much analysis into comparative benefits of using different types of RBFs to solve a given problem.

Since a well-trained surrogate model is at the root of solving the nanoindentationbased inverse problem, this study was designed to facilitate the understanding of a POD–RBF based surrogate model's performance with respect to the number of training points and the choice of an RBF. It was expected that the findings of this study would provide a general framework for solving nanoindentation-based material modeling inverse problem using POD-RBF technique.

### 4.1 Case Study

In this study, nanoindentation was conducted on a standard metallic material. The nanoindentation experiment was then modeled with a finite element analysis software, where a custom elastic–plastic material behavior was incorporated. A range was selected for each parameter within which the values of the parameter would be altered. A Taguchi orthogonal array-based experimental design was formulated by varying each parameter within the range at four equidistant levels. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) technique was employed to recognize the influence of the parameters over the output. The number of levels for the unknown parameters within the specified range were optimized based on the ANOVA results. Training data were generated in a full factorial basis by varying each parameter of the custom material model for the initial and optimized model. A random noise of 1% and 5% was appended to the training data to investigate the stability of each surrogate model.

## 4.1.1 Nanoindentation

The nanoindentation experiment was conducted using an MTS Nanoindenter XP (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) using a load-controlled scheme with a Berkovich tip. The maximum load was set to be 4.9 mN for the experiments. A triangular loading profile was chosen with a 15 s duration for both the loading and unloading segments. Before conducting the actual experiments the Berkovich tip was calibrated using a fused silica reference material. Also, the acceptable thermal drift rate was chosen to be 0.15 nm/s.

The nanoindentation experiment was conducted on a reference material *i.e.* single crystal aluminum. This sample is commonly used to check the performance of a nanoindenter. The single crystal aluminum sample has Young's modulus of 70.4 GPa

and Possion's ratio of 0.345 as provided by the supplier (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA).

### 4.1.2 Finite Element Simulation

A commercial finite element software (ABAQUS, Dassault Systémes, Providence, RI, USA) was utilized in this study, both for modeling the nanoindentation experiment and for solving the finite element problem. The Berkovich tip was modeled as a 3D discrete rigid body while the sample was modeled as a 3D deformable body. A finer mesh was provided to the sample near the contact region to ensure good convergence and also to improve the quality of the finite element solution.

The contact between the indenter and the sample was assumed sliding contact with a friction coefficient of 0.25 and was defined as *surface-to-surface* contact. The indenter and the sample were assigned as the *master* and the *slave* surface, respectively. In ABAQUS surface-to-surface contact, master surface nodes can penetrate the slave surface (*i.e.* causing deformation to the slave surface), while the slave surface nodes cannot penetrate master surface. In indentation modeling using FE, it is generally assumed that the indenter is much stiffer than the sample surface; hence, deformation of the indenter by the sample surface is neglected. The element type was chosen from the eight-node brick element family (C3D8). The finite element problem consisted a total of 1323 elements and 1817 nodes. Figure 4.2 shows a schematic of the FE model generated in ABAQUS and Fig. 4.3 shows the typical ABAQUS simulation's stress contour outputs at the end of a Berkovich indentation.

The elastic-plastic material behavior of the sample was incorporated in the FE software using a UMAT subroutine. The material behavior was chosen as isotropic elastic-plastic with linear hardening as shown in Fig. 4.2 (a). This model defines both the elastic and the plastic part of the stress-strain relationship as linear [147, 148]. Only four parameters are required to describe this particular material model, which



(b) Schematic of ABAQUS finite element model for Berkovich indentation

Figure 4.2: ABAQUS finite element modeling details



(c) Y-axis stress component,  $\sigma_{22}$ 



Figure 4.3: Stress contours ABAQUS output after unloading for elastic–plastic Berkovich indentation simulation

are elastic modulus (E), Poisson's ratio  $(\nu)$ , yield strength  $(\sigma_Y)$ , and hardening coefficient (h). For the numerical study, Poission's ratio was kept constant at the known value of 0.345. According to prior FE-based studies, Poisson's ratio does not affect the FE simulation of indentation experiment as much as the other model parameters [149] and hence, kept constant in most of the indentation modeling studies [150, 151]. Table 4.1 lists the range of values used in this study for the three parameters.

Table 4.1: Range of values for the model parameters

Model parameter	Lowest level	Highest level
Young's modulus, E	60	75
Yield strength, $\sigma_{\rm Y}$	0.05	0.20
Hardening coefficient, h	0.4	0.7

### 4.1.3 Taguchi Design of Experiments and Sensitivity Analysis

When a system's output is governed by two or more independent variables, information about each variable's influence over the output may provide deeper insight into the optimization problem. In other words, it is important to know how the system output is affected by each given input parameter. By doing so the performance of the overall optimization routine could be greatly improved since this information could subsequently be utilized in reducing the computation expense of the meta-model development.

In this study, a Taguchi-based design of experiments methodology with ANOVA was adopted to quantify each input parameters contribution towards the overall output or the error function. Employing Taguchi orthogonal arrays instead of a full factorial experimental design help in reducing the number of finite element simulations required in assessing the sensitivity of model parameters.

The first step of performing a sensitivity analysis is to define an experimental design, which involved choosing an appropriate orthogonal array. This was achieved by first calculating the 'degrees of freedom' of the experiment, as

$$dof^{exp} = \sum dof^{i} + \sum dof^{int}$$
(4.1)

where,  $dof^{i} = k^{i} - 1$ ,  $k^{i}$  is designated as the number of levels for the input parameter i, and  $dof^{int}$  are from the interaction between model parameters. In this study four levels were considered for each of the three input parameters, as listed in Table 4.2. As a result, the degrees of freedom for each factor equaled 3. No interaction was considered among the model parameters. Hence, the total number of degrees of freedom for the experiment was found to be 9. The Taguchi orthogonal array which can successfully accommodate this number of degrees of freedom is modified L<sub>16</sub>. The experimental design for this study according to the modified L<sub>16</sub> orthogonal array is listed in Table 4.3.

Levels	Elastic	Elastic Yield	
	Modulus,	Strength,	Coefficient,
	E (GPa)	$\sigma_{\rm Y}~({\rm GPa})$	h
Level 1	60	0.05	0.40
Level 2	65	0.10	0.50
Level 3	70	0.15	0.60
Level 4	75	0.20	0.70

Table 4.2: Levels of material model parameters

For each of these experiments, finite element simulation yielded results in terms of indenter displacement as a function of indentation load. The load increments for the simulation was chosen in such a manner so that it matched with the experimental loading data. The error function,  $\delta$  for this study was defined by the following equation.

$$\delta = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \frac{(h_i^{sim} - h_i^{exp})}{h_i^{exp}} \right]^2} \tag{4.2}$$

where, n is the number of data points in the load–displacement plot. By following the Taguchi orthogonal array experimental design the relationship of three model parameters with the system output or the error function was formulated, which was then analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA).

#### 4.1.4 POD–RBF Based Surrogate Model

The proper orthogonal decomposition (POD) theory, also known as principal component analysis (PCA), was developed to approximate a function over some domain of interest based on the known relationships between the input and the output [127, 136, 137]. This study followed the POD–RBF procedure outlined by Rogers *et al.* [152].

Experiment	Elastic modulus	Yield strength	Hardening coefficient
1	1	1	1
2	1	2	2
3	1	3	3
4	1	4	4
5	2	1	2
6	2	2	1
7	2	3	4
8	2	4	3
9	3	1	3
10	3	2	4
11	3	3	1
12	3	4	2
13	4	1	4
14	4	2	3
15	4	3	2
16	4	4	1

Table 4.3: Experimental design based on the modified  $L_{16}$  orthogonal array

As per POD terminology, the relationship between the input and the output of a particular system is called a snapshot. In the context of this study, snapshots or training points were relation of material model parameters and the output tip displacement data. If M number of simulations were carried out where in each of them at least one input variable was changed, then the snapshot matrix U was formulated by combining M number of displacement vectors. Moreover, if the output of the simulation (displacement vector) had N data points, then snapshot matrix Ucan be defined as,

$$\boldsymbol{U} = \begin{bmatrix} u_1^1 & u_1^2 & \cdots & u_1^M \\ u_2^1 & u_2^2 & \cdots & u_2^M \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ u_N^1 & u_N^2 & \cdots & u_N^M \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.3)

Input material model parameters were collected in the input matrix,  $\boldsymbol{P}$ . The first step towards creating a reduced order model using POD was to generate snapshots of the system for the range of input parameters and subsequently combining all these appropriately in the  $\boldsymbol{U}$  and  $\boldsymbol{P}$  matrix. A brief outline of surrogate model training using POD–RBF technique is provided here without detailed mathematical derivations, which can be found in the literature [153, 154].

- Step 1: Develop the covariance matrix C for the snapshot matrix U, where  $C = U^T U$ .
- Step 2: Find the POD orthonormal basis vectors  $\Phi^{j}$  (for j = 1, 2, 3, ..., M) which would optimally represent U. Here, POD basis matrix  $\Phi = U$ . V, and Vrepresents the eigenvectors of C. V can be found by solving the eigenvalue problem noted as  $C \cdot V = \Lambda \cdot V$ .
- Step 3: Truncate the POD basis based on the energy of the POD modes and determine  $\hat{\Phi}$ . The subsequent POD model would retain majority of the information

about the system, while reducing the dimension of the problem considerably. The truncated POD basis,  $\hat{\Phi} = U$ .  $\hat{V}$ .

- Step 4: Once truncated POD basis matrix is known, the amplitude matrix A can be computed as,  $A = \hat{\Phi}^T \cdot U$ . A is defined as a nonlinear function of P matrix. At the time A is known, POD reduced order model of the system is ready, and data can be interpolated to find out the surrogate approximation for unknown input parameters.
- Step 5: Compute the coefficient matrix B as,  $B = A \cdot F^{-1}$ , where, F is the matrix of interpolation functions or RBFs in the context of this study. F is defined as-

$$\boldsymbol{F} = \begin{bmatrix} f_1(|p^1 - p^1|) & \cdots & f_1(|p^j - p^1|) & \cdots & f_1(|p^M - p^1|) \\ f_2(|p^1 - p^2|) & \cdots & f_2(|p^j - p^2|) & \cdots & f_2(|p^M - p^2|) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ f_i(|p^1 - p^i|) & \cdots & f_i(|p^j - p^i|) & \cdots & f_i(|p^M - p^i|) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ f_M(|p^1 - p^M|) & \cdots & f_M(|p^j - p^M|) & \cdots & f_1(|p^M - p^M|) \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.4)

where,  $p^i$  and  $p^j$  are input parameter vectors used to generate the i-th and j-th snapshots, respectively.

Step 6: At an unknown point, p in the parameter space, the system output can be computed using the relationship,  $u(p) \approx \hat{\Phi}.B.f(p)$ , where f(p) is defined as  $f(p) = f_i(|p-p_i|)$ . f(p) is essentially an M-dimensional column vector of RBF values of unknown point p with respect to the known input points.

Table 4.4 shows the radial basis functions that were used in this study. It is important to note that, LS and CS are piece-wise smooth functions, while MQ, GS and IMQ are continuously smooth functions. The biggest difference between piece-wise and continuously smooth functions is that the latter creates a continuously smooth

Radial Basis Functions (RBFs)	Equation
Linear splines (LS)	$  \mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}_j  $
Cubic splines (CS)	$  \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_j  ^3$
Multiquadratic (MQ)	$\sqrt{1+rac{  \mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}_j  ^2}{c_j^2}}$
Gaussian (GS)	$\exp\left(rac{-  \mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}_j  }{c_j^2} ight)$
Inverse Multiquadratic (IMQ)	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{  \mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}_j  ^2+c_j^2}}$

Table 4.4: Experimental design based on the modified  $L_{16}$  orthogonal array

function through all the known data points while the former is only smooth in between the data points. Also, the continuously smooth RBFs used in this study utilized a shape parameter denoted by  $c_j$ . The primary role of shape parameter is to remove ill-conditioning during numerical manipulations. In keeping with literature, the value of the shape parameter  $c_j$  was kept constant at 0.5 [143].

#### 4.2 **Results and Discussions**

## 4.2.1 Sensitivity Analysis

For each of the three unknown parameters (Young's modulus, yield strength, and hardening coefficient) initially four levels were selected within the range specified in Table 4.2. This experimental design required the modified  $L_{16}$  Taguchi orthogonal array, as listed in Table 4.3. The results of ANOVA for computer experiments that were conducted following the modified  $L_{16}$  orthogonal array are listed in Table 4.5.

From the *P*-values of the ANOVA results it was found that the yield strength parameter significantly affected the output (P-value  $\approx 0.00 < 0.05$ ) at 0.05 level of significance. The other two parameters, Young's modulus and hardening coefficient, however, did not had a significant effect. In ANOVA the sum of squares represents the

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F-Value	P-Value	% Contribution
Modulus	3	5272	1757	0.62	0.629	1.70
Yield	3	268843	89614	31.45	0.000	87.14
Hardening	3	17288	5763	2.02	0.212	5.60
Error	6	17094	2849			
Total	15	308498				

Table 4.5: Experimental design based on the modified  $L_{16}$  orthogonal array

variance contributed by each parameter. Accordingly, the '% Contribution' column in Table 4.5 shows the percentage contribution of each parameter towards the total sum of squares. Figure 4.4 shows a visual representation of how the output changes within the range of each individual parameters, and the % Contribution for each parameters found from ANOVA. It can be seen that majority of the variance originated from the yield strength parameter. Meanwhile, the contributions of the other two parameters were significantly less as compared to the overall variance. Hence, the most influential input parameter for the bilinear plasticity model was determined to be the yield strength.

This behavior can be explained in terms of the mechanics of the indentation process. For a sharp tip indenter, such as the Berkovich tip, plastic deformation starts dominating the behavior of the nanoindentation response very early in the loading process. Thus, even a small change in yield strength of the material would have a significant effect on the nanoindentation behavior, especially under a sharp tip.



(a) % Contribution of individual model parameters



(b) Main effects plot for means of individual model parameter

Figure 4.4: Individual model parameter's sensitivity towards the output obtained by ANOVA.

#### 4.2.2 Effect of Training Points and Choice of RBF

Initially, a total of  $4 \times 4 \times 4 = 64$  finite element (FE) solutions were used to train the surrogate model. These snapshots or training points had at least one input parameter different in each of the 64 input set. From the simulation a total of 30 data points were extracted to represent the load-displacement data. The final snapshot matrix was then developed with the dimension of 30 row and 64 columns, where each column represented one single simulation.

POD was then used to reduce the model by identifying the correlation between the 64 different snapshots. The resultant eigenvalues for the snapshot matrix is given below.

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 5.31 \times 10^{08} \\ 4.35 \times 10^{05} \\ 1.21 \times 10^{04} \\ 5.66 \times 10^{03} \\ 3.22 \times 10^{03} \\ 2.12 \times 10^{03} \end{bmatrix}$$

It can be seen from the eigenvalues that high degree of correlation existed between the snapshots. This is a normal behavior since the system, boundary conditions and the measurements were the same for all the snapshots, while only few model parameters were changed. Then the dimension of the problem was reduced using the equation provided in the POD theory (Eq. 3.35). The reduced model was able to retain 99.91% data variability by keeping only 1 dimension out of 6.

Now, the FE nanoindentation output was not as sensitive to the Young's modulus or the hardening coefficient as to the yield strength. Therefore, the number of levels for the Young's modulus and hardening coefficient parameters was reduced to three from the initial number of four. The number of levels for yield strength was kept constant at four. Table 4.6 shows the optimized levels for the Young's modulus

Level	Elastic modulus (GPa)	Hardening coefficient
1	60.0	0.40
2	67.5	0.55
3	75.0	0.70

Table 4.6: Experimental design based on the modified  $L_{16}$  orthogonal array

and hardening coefficient parameters. By employing the same full factorial design to generate set of input parameters, a total of  $3 \times 4 \times 3 = 36$  different input sets (snapshots or training points) were now used to train the optimized surrogate model.

After the reduced model is established and its corresponding amplitude matrix is determined, RBF was used for the interpolation. As mentioned previously, the choice of RBF is an important step towards developing the inverse technique. In this study, five different RBFs were used initially to find out the best performing RBF for approximating nanoindentation response. It was assumed that the error of approximation would be the maximum between two sampling points. Hence, the validation points or unknown points referred in the subsequent paragraphs were the points that were halfway between two known or training points.

Figure 4.5 shows the performances of initial 64-training point and subsequently optimized 36-training point surrogate models for training and validation points for various radial basis functions with the five different RBFs. A POD–RBF surrogate model trains itself by combining the input–output relationships of the known points. As a result very small deviations or errors are expected for the approximations of the known training points. Accordingly it was found that both the 64-point and 36-point surrogate models provided good approximation for the training points (Fig. 4.5a). The ~0.8% error in approximation could be attributed to the POD model reduction and rounding off errors. The 36-point surrogate model showed a small increase in



(b) Unknown data (validation) points

Figure 4.5: Comparison of the initial 64-training point and subsequently optimized 36-training point surrogate model performances calculated for training and validation points for five different radial basis functions (RBFs), namely, linear splines (LS), cubic splines (CS), multiquadratic (MQ), Gaussian (GS), and inverse multiquadratic (IMQ).

error for the known points. Nonetheless, this increase in error was relatively small when compared to the reduction in number of training points used for the optimized surrogate model.

The performance of the surrogate models for validation (unknown) data points is shown in Fig. 4.5b. Once again, we report on the performances of both 64-point and 36-point surrogate models with five different RBFs. While the different RBFs did not show any differences in the performance of the surrogate models for the known points, significant variations were observed for the validation (unknown) data points.

For the initial surrogate model trained with 64 training points, the lowest error was found for the multiquadratic (MQ) RBF, while the Gaussian (GS) RBF showed the highest error. The cubic spline (CS) RBF was also found to be very close in performance to the MQ RBF. The difference between the best and worst performing RBF was approximately  $\sim 1\%$ . These errors were magnified for the 36-point model. In this case the difference between the best and worst performing RBF was approximately  $\sim 5.5\%$ . Once again, the MQ RBF provided the lowest and the GS RBF the highest approximation error, respectively. Also, there were only minor differences in performance between the CS and MQ RBFs. In a relative sense CS, MQ and IMQ showed a small increase in approximation error for optimized surrogate when compared to the initial surrogate.

The variation in performances of these RBFs in approximating the nanoindentation data can be examined in terms of the mechanics of the loading process that is being modeled. A nanoindentation experiment typically yields a nonlinear response in the load–displacement data. In the context of this study, this means that a linear change in any unknown model parameter would lead to a nonlinear change in the measured tip displacement data. The LS and CS RBFs represent piece-wise smooth functions and thus can be expected to have issues when the modeled behavior is nonlinear. Accordingly, both the 64-point and 36-point LS RBF-based surrogate models
exhibited poor performance. The end effect of nonlinearity on the model's performance was much more pronounced for LS RBF-based optimized surrogate model (with reduced number of points), since the spatial distances between the training points were greater. While the CS RBF is also a piece-wise smooth function, it offers a better performance because of its ability to conform into a nonlinear shape. Thus, the CS RBF-based models provided better approximations for both 64-point and 36-point models.

The MQ, GS, and IMQ RBFs represent continuously smooth functions and thus should be very capable for modeling nonlinear load–displacement data from a nanoindentation loading process. Hence, all these RBFs should provide comparable approximation error while used in POD–RBF based surrogate models. However, except for MQ, the performance of these RBFs were poor. In fact, GS RBF-based surrogate models exhibited the worse performance with significantly higher approximation error compared to all the other RBFs. Understanding this requires an investigation into the effects of the shape parameter that plays a role in the approximations by continuously smooth functions.

#### 4.2.3 Effect of Shape Parameter

To understand variations in the performance of continuously smooth RBFs, especially the GS function, a parametric study was conducted to observe the effect of shape parameter. As stated earlier, the primary role of shape parameter is to remove illconditioning during numerical manipulations. Although it is desirable to have a high value of shape parameter, beyond certain point RBF approximation becomes unstable due to near singular interpolation matrix [139].

For this investigation the shape parameter was varied from 0.5 to 1.5 and the resulting effect on fitting studied for the three continuously smooth RBFs of interest, namely MQ, GS, and IMQ. Figure 4.6 shows the variations in approximation error



Figure 4.6: Effect of shape parameter  $(c_j)$  on the performance 36-point surrogate model for various continuously smooth radial basis functions (RBF's), multiquadratic (MQ), Gaussian (GS), and inverse multiquadratic (IMQ).

for these three RBFs as a function of shape parameter for the 36-training point model. It is seen that, shape parameter played a role in minimizing the approximation error of the models. The MQ RBF-based models, which already provided the best performance among all five RBFs, did not show considerable change in error. In case of IMQ, the approximation error decreased a little bit as the value of the shape parameter was increased. The most dramatic change was observed for the GS RBFbased surrogate model, where the approximation error decreased almost exponentially from a value of ~7.5% to ~2%. For  $c_j = 1.5$  the error of the GS-based model was almost comparable to the other two RBFs.

This behavior is consistent with prior studies conducted to illustrate the applicability of RBFs as an interpolation tool [155, 156]. Higher values of the shape factor usually improve the overall accuracy of approximation; however, the *optimal* number depends heavily on the nature of the problem, the RBF in use, and the number of training points. The shape parameter not only provides a way for removing illconditioning, it also serves as a measure of influence domain. If a particular unknown point is imagined in the center of the influence domain then only the data points inside or near the influence domain affect the quality of approximation of that point. As higher values of the shape parameter lead to a bigger influence domain, the approximation quality generally improves. However, larger shape parameter values also imply large condition number of a system that subsequently leads to larger error in the coefficients.

# 4.2.4 Effect of Random Noise

Random noise was introduced in to the training data to observe how well the POD– RBF based surrogate models perform when measurement errors are present in the training data. With regards to our specific study, it was particularly important to examine if approximation errors propagated for the surrogate model with reduced number of training data. Figure 4.7 shows the effects of 1% and 5% random noise on the performance of 36-training point and 64-training point based surrogate models. For both the surrogate models the introduction of 1% or 5% random noise resulted in only minimal increase in the approximation error. This demonstrated that the POD–RBF technique was very efficient in filtering out random measurement error in the training data. This was especially signification for the surrogate model trained with 36 points and illustrated that the POD–RBF technique was very effective in dealing with noisy data even when number of training points was low.

Another important observation found from Fig. 4.7 was that RBFs played little to no role in changing the overall approximation error as a function of random noise being introduced in to the training data. For all the RBFs, both for 64-point and



(b) 64-training point model

Figure 4.7: Effect of random noise on the surrogate model performance calculated for unknown data (validation points) for various radial basis functions (RBF's), linear splines (LS), cubic splines (CS), multiquadratic (MQ), Gaussian (GS), and inverse multiquadratic (IMQ).

36-point surrogate models, the error in approximation after training with noisy data was consistent with the approximation error trained with clean data. This finding suggested that although the choice of an RBF plays a crucial role for overall surrogate model performance, it does not provide any added benefit or disadvantage when dealing with noisy training data.

### 4.3 Conclusion

This study took a systematic approach towards understanding the role of training points quantity and the choice of RBF for surrogate model construction to solve a nanoindentation-based inverse problem. In particular, attention was concentrated to see if the information of system's sensitivity towards individual input parameters could be utilized to reduce the number of data points required to train the surrogate model without sacrificing considerable accuracy.

A case study problem was formulated where an elastic–plastic model with three parameters was used to define the material behavior of single crystal aluminum. A Taguchi orthogonal array was used to design the experiments for the input parameters varying within a preselected range of values in few equidistant levels. By applying analysis of variance (ANOVA) on orthogonal array experiments, the sensitivities of nanoindentation output with respect to each model parameters were identified. This information was then used to reduce the number of levels for parameters that exhibited smaller effect on the nanoindentation output. Training data points were generated using finite element software ABAQUS by adopting a full factorial approach for input parameter sets. A systematic comparison was made between the performances of five different RBFs, namely, linear splines (LS), cubic splines (CS), multiquadratic (MQ), Gaussian (GS), and inverse multi quadratic (IMQ). This comparison allowed the investigation of the choice of RBF in terms of overall performance of the surrogate model. Finally, random noise was introduced in the training data in order to verify the stability of the surrogate model, especially as the number of training points was reduced.

It was found that ANOVA analysis of a Taguchi orthogonal array-based experimental design could provide meaningful understanding about the sensitivity of each input parameter of the material model. This information could be utilized in two ways, a) to reduce the number of data points required for the less critical parameters, thus reducing the overall number of training points, and b) to combine this information with global optimization algorithms to reduce the computational effort for finding the global minima. In this study, it was successfully shown that an optimally trained surrogate model provided competitive quality of approximation when compared with a surrogate model trained higher number of training data. For multiquadratic (MQ) RBF-based surrogate model, approximately  $\sim 0.5\%$  difference in accuracy was found for surrogate models trained with 64- and 36-points.

Among the five RBFs that were compared in this study, multiquadratic (MQ) and Gaussian (GS) RBF provided best and worst performance, respectively, for both training schemes. While the difference between their performance was approximately  $\sim 1\%$  for 64-points model, it increased dramatically to  $\sim 5.5\%$  for 36-points model. Among the piece-wise continuous RBFs, cubic spline (CS) RBF's performance was comparable to MQ's performance, while linear spline (LS) RBF performed poorly. It was interesting to note that, while all the RBFs showed some increase in approximation error due to training point reduction, this effect was much more pronounced for LS and GS-based models.

The poor performance of the LS RBF-based model could be attributed to LS's inability to replicate nonlinear input–output relationships of the nanoindentation experiment. To understand GS RBF's unexpectedly high approximation error, a parametric study was conducted to investigate the effect of shape parameter on the overall performance of the surrogates. As the value of the shape parameter increased the quality of approximation for GS-based surrogate improved dramatically due to the increase in radius of influence. Similar observation was made for IMQ-based surrogate, although the improvement was not as dramatics as GS.

By introducing random noise in the training data, the stability of POD–RBF based surrogate models were investigated. It was found that POD–RBF was capable of providing good quality approximation even with noisy training data. Identical observations were made for both 36- and 64-training points model, where random noise did not significantly altered the approximation error.

This investigation demonstrated that through the use of sensitivity analysis it was possible to reduce the number of training points required for POD–RBF based surrogate model without sacrificing considerable accuracy. It was also found that due to the nonlinear behavior of input–output relationship of a nanoindentation experiment, a RBF which can conform into a nonlinear shape would perform better. The value of the shape parameter for continuously smooth functions was found to have effect on the overall quality of approximation. POD–RBF approach's power to effectively find the dominant nature of the data even from a smaller number of training points was observed through studying the effect of noisy training data.

# CHAPTER 5

# ESTIMATION OF NONLINEAR VISCOELASTIC PARAMETERS

### 5.1 Study Details

In order to demonstrate the applicability of the POD–RBF technique to determine the nonlinear viscoelastic Burgers model parameters, nanoindentation was carried out on epoxy. The finite element model was constructed using commercial finite element package ABAQUS (Dassault Systémes, Providence, RI, USA). The nonlinear Burgers model was implemented in an user-defined subroutine (UMAT) via FORTRAN script. The information known from previous chapter about POD–RBF was combined to solve the problem of finding the model parameters.

## 5.1.1 Design of Experiments for Sensitivity Analysis

Before generating finite element simulation data by varying the model parameters, a sensitivity study of the parameters was conducted. This information helps to reduce the number of finite element simulation used for training. This was demonstrated in Chapter 4 for an elastic–plastic model.

The nonlinear Burgers model that was chosen to represent the behavior of the epoxy has seven independent parameters. These parameters are E,  $\nu$ , C<sub>s</sub>, m<sub>s</sub>, C<sub>t</sub>, m<sub>t</sub>, and t<sub> $\varepsilon$ </sub>, as discussed earlier in Section 3.1. It is already known that a nanoindentation load–displacement response is not highly influenced by Poisson's ratio,  $\nu$  [149–151]. Therefore, in order to keep the number of independent parameters to a minimum,  $\nu$  was given a constant value of 0.34, and was not included in the sensitivity analysis scheme.

Sensitivity analysis was primarily carried out using Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) technique. The data required for ANOVA was generated using the Taguchi Design of Experiments (DOE) method. In this study, the six nonlinear model parameters were varied in three equidistant levels. A statistical software, Minitab (Minitab Inc., State College, PA, USA) was used to design the experiments. For six parameters, where each parameters were varied in three levels, Taguchi  $L_{27}$  orthogonal array design was appropriate. Table 5.1 shows the levels of the six individual parameters of the nonlinear Burgers model. The experimental design for this study according to the  $L_{27}$  orthogonal array is listed in Table 5.2.

Parameters	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Е	3	3.25	3.5
$C_s$	0.02	0.06	0.1
m <sub>s</sub>	0.15	0.25	0.35
$C_t$	0.15	0.25	0.35
$m_t$	0.2	0.5	0.8
$t_{\epsilon}$	0.1	0.25	0.4

Table 5.1: Levels of nonlinear Burgers model parameters

Each of these 27 computer simulations resulted in data in terms of indenter displacement. The resulting value of error function,  $\delta$  was calculated using the Eq. 5.1. This was then utilized in ANOVA to determine the effect of each parameters on the error function.

$$\delta = \frac{1}{n} \sum \left[ (h^i_{\text{exp}} - h^i_{\text{sim}})^2 \right]$$
(5.1)

In Eq. 5.1 i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n, and n is the number of data points in a single nanoindentation simulation or experiment.

Sensitivity of the nanoindentation output was also determined in a different way,

Experiment	Е	$C_s$	$m_s$	$C_{t}$	$m_t$	$\mathrm{t}_{\epsilon}$
1	3	0.02	0.15	0.15	0.2	0.1
2	3	0.02	0.15	0.15	0.5	0.25
3	3	0.02	0.15	0.15	0.8	0.4
4	3	0.06	0.25	0.25	0.2	0.1
5	3	0.06	0.25	0.25	0.5	0.25
6	3	0.06	0.25	0.25	0.8	0.4
7	3	0.1	0.35	0.35	0.2	0.1
8	3	0.1	0.35	0.35	0.5	0.25
9	3	0.1	0.35	0.35	0.8	0.4
10	3.25	0.02	0.25	0.35	0.2	0.25
11	3.25	0.02	0.25	0.35	0.5	0.4
12	3.25	0.02	0.25	0.35	0.8	0.1
13	3.25	0.06	0.35	0.15	0.2	0.25
14	3.25	0.06	0.35	0.15	0.5	0.4
15	3.25	0.06	0.35	0.15	0.8	0.1
16	3.25	0.1	0.15	0.25	0.2	0.25
17	3.25	0.1	0.15	0.25	0.5	0.4
18	3.25	0.1	0.15	0.25	0.8	0.1
19	3.5	0.02	0.35	0.25	0.2	0.4
20	3.5	0.02	0.35	0.25	0.5	0.1
21	3.5	0.02	0.35	0.25	0.8	0.25
22	3.5	0.06	0.15	0.35	0.2	0.4
23	3.5	0.06	0.15	0.35	0.5	0.1
24	3.5	0.06	0.15	0.35	0.8	0.25
25	3.5	0.1	0.25	0.15	0.2	0.4
26	3.5	0.1	0.25	0.15	0.5	0.1
27	3.5	0.1	0.25	0.15	0.8	0.25

Table 5.2: Experimental design based on the  $\mathrm{L}_{27}$  orthogonal array

where the difference in output between lowest and highest limit of the individual parameter levels were determined. Unlike the Taguchi–ANOVA procedure explained above, here only the indenter depth at maximum load and the depth after unloading was studied.

This type of parametric sensitivity analysis has been previously used in understanding nanoindentation experiments in general. In the current study, this sensitivity analysis was performed in order to complement the Taguchi–ANOVA procedure, and to get an objective understanding of how each parameters contribute to the variance of an indentation plot's two key features.

### 5.1.2 Nanoindentation Experiment

Nanoindentation experiments were conducted on an MTS Nanoindenter XP (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) using a load-controlled scheme with a Berkovich tip. The maximum load was set to be 0.5, 0.75, and 1.0 mN for the experiments. A triangular loading profile was chosen with 30, 45, 60, and 240 s durations. The durations were kept constant for both the loading and unloading segments.

Before conducting the actual experiments the Berkovich tip was calibrated using a fused silica reference material. Also, the acceptable thermal drift rate was chosen to be 0.15 nm/s. After ensuring that the thermal drift rate was stable and below the target drift rate nanoindentation experiments were carried out.

## 5.1.3 Material

An epoxy polymer, named EPON 862, was selected for carrying out nanoindentation experiment. EPON 862 is a diglycidyl ether of bisphenol F (DGEBF). The curing agent used for this resin system was a moderately reactive, low viscosity aliphatic amine curing agent, called Epikure 3274. Both of these chemicals were supplied by Miller-Stephenson Chemical Company, Inc., Dunbury, Connecticut. Epoxy and hardener was mixed at 100:40 weight ratio and hand-mixed using a glass-rod for 5–10 minutes. The mixture was then degassed for around 10–20 minutes to remove any entrapped air bubbles. The mixture was then poured into an aluminum mold and cured at room temperature for 24 hours and subsequently post-cured at 121°C for 6 hours. The final sample was cut from the prepared epoxy plate using a bandsaw. Sample surface preparation was carried out by polishing using standard metallographic techniques.

## 5.1.4 Genetic Algorithm

A multi-objective genetic algorithm-based optimization procedure was used to identify the parameters of the nonlinear Burgers model. The procedure was implemented using MATLAB's (Mathworks Inc., Natick, MA, USA) global optimization toolbox.

*Double vector* was chosen as the population type. The initial population of 200 was randomly created with a uniform distribution. Scores of the first and all subsequent generations were determined by evaluating the fitness function that was submitted to the program via MATLAB script.

Selection of the worthy candidates for being the next generation parent were carried out via tournament of size 2. Eighty percent of the next generation population was produced via *crossover*, while the remainder of the was created through *mutation*. Gaussian mutation was selected, where a random number from a Gaussian distribution centered on zero was added to each vector entry of an individual.

The standard deviation of the Gaussian distribution is controlled using two parameters, *i.e. scale* and *shrink*. Both of these two parameters were set to 1 for this study. The scale parameter defines the standard deviation of the Gaussian distribution for first generation, while the shrink parameter determines the amount of shrinking that will occur to the standard deviation by the time it reaches the last generation.

In this study, the crossover function was chosen to be *intermediate*. In case of

intermediate crossover the creation of children from two parents is controlled by a single parameter ratio. The value of this parameter was selected to be 1 for this study. Next generation children were created through a random weighted average of the parents following Eq. 5.2.

$$child^{1} = parent^{1} + \dots rand^{*}Ratio^{*}(parent^{2} - parent^{1})$$
(5.2)

Every once in a while, the worst performing individuals of one subpopulation need to be replaced by the best performing individuals of a different subpopulation. This process is called *migration*. Migration in a genetic algorithm-based optimization can be controlled using three parameters, *i.e. direction, fraction, and interval* of migration.

The direction parameter specifies in which direction migration will take place. The fraction parameter controls the number of individuals that will be migrated from one subpopulation to another. The interval parameter dictates the number of generations that will be elapsed between each migration.

In this study, forward migration direction was chosen. This meant individuals from  $n^{th}$  subpopulation would replace individuals from  $(n+1)^{th}$  subpopulation and so on. The migration fraction and interval were chosen to be 0.2 and 20, respectively.

Total number of generations for the optimization algorithm was chosen to  $100 \times$  number of parameters, *i.e.*  $100 \times 6 = 600$  for this study. The fitness (error) function tolerance was chosen to be  $1e^{-4}$ .

## 5.1.5 Parametric Study: Friction Coefficient

The performance of material model calibration using POD–RBF technique depends primarily on the quality of training data coming from finite element simulations. This means that the better the finite element model is in terms of replicating the real experiment scenario of a nanoindentation experiment the better the quality of training data, which in essence provides better quality approximation from the surrogate model.

One important factor to consider in nanoindentation experiment is the friction between the indenter tip and the sample or material surface. In real life situations it is possible that the two surfaces generate finite amount of friction. This can be taken into consideration by defining sliding contact with a finite friction coefficient between the surfaces.

However, to simplify the finite element model most researchers have opted to assume frictionless contact between tip and sample surface [157, 158]. Their assumption was based on the fact that nanoindentation load–displacement data was insensitive to friction. Nonetheless, a few researchers have shown that friction can influence the results in a simulation study [159–161]. This is because influence of friction in a simulated study depends on some other factors, such as the material model used and the geometry of the tip. If these factors change from one study to another, investigating the effect of friction becomes a necessity.

Only few studies have previously used the nonlinear Burgers model in a nanoindentationbased finite element study. Therefore it is necessary to study the effect of friction coefficient on the load-displacement output. To facilitate the understanding this study performed a parametric study, where the friction coefficient value was varied in four steps ranging from 0—0.5. All the experimental load and strain rate levels were studied to improve the understanding.

#### 5.1.6 POD–RBF Surrogate Model

As discussed in previous chapters the POD–RBF method requires creating snapshots (input–output relationships of the system) from which the surrogate model could be established. Each of the data that provides a one-to-one relationship between the input and the output is called a snapshot. As discussed in Chapter 4, the more snapshots or training data points utilized to generate the surrogate model the better the approximation becomes.

However, the computational burden associated with generating large number of snapshots becomes the limiting factor in obtaining very high-fidelity predictions from the surrogate model. As shown in chapter 4, sensitivity analysis could be utilized to reduce the number of snapshots without sacrificing approximation error. Hence, in this study, a similar approach was adopted to reduce the computation burden of training the surrogate model for nonlinear Burgers model.

Once the appropriate number of levels for different parameters were selected using information from sensitivity analysis, a full factorial approach was taken to generate the input parameter sets. These parameter sets were combined to produce the input matrix,  $\boldsymbol{P}$ . Finite element simulation experiments were carried out for every individual parameter sets and their corresponding indenter displacement data was assimilated in the snapshot matrix,  $\boldsymbol{U}$ .

In this study, four different experimental conditions were utilized for which the training data would be generated. In these experimental conditions, the maximum load was kept constant at 1mN, while the strain rate was varied from  $1/30 \text{ s}^{-1}$  to  $1/240 \text{ s}^{-1}$ . One surrogate model was created for each of those experimental conditions using finite element data. The approximations from each surrogate model was compared against their own experimental indenter displacement data to form the objective or error function.

In keeping with the findings of chapter 4 the Multiquadratic RBF was chosen for this study. Since, the value of the shape parameter  $(c_j)$  does not influence the POD-MQ RBF surrogate model's performance significantly it was chosen 0.5 for this study.

# 5.2 Results and Discussion

#### 5.2.1 Effect of Friction Coefficient

The effect of the friction coefficient on maximum and residual depths attained during nanoindentation was analyzed. Figure 5.1 shows the effect for conditions represented by a fixed maximum load of 1.0 mN with different loading–unloading times. For any given value of the friction coefficient, the values of both maximum and residual depths decreased as compared to the corresponding frictionless case of indentation. The plots represent the reduction of depths between the simulations of a frictionless condition and a particular friction coefficient (e.g. f = 0.125, 0.25, or 0.5). All other conditions, e.g. boundary conditions, maximum load, loading–unloading time, and material model parameters, were kept constant. Both Fig. 5.1(a) and 5.1(b) are plotted at the same vertical scale for ease of comparison.

Figure 5.1 shows that for any value of the friction coefficient within the studied range, the value of maximum and residual depths were reduced in comparison to the frictionless condition. This behavior was found to be true for all studied conditions with varying loading–unloading times. When friction is considered in a nanoindentation study, part of the energy that could be utilized to displace the material gets dissipated as frictional energy. This loss of energy leads to a reduced displacement of the indenter. Similar behavior has been observed for simulation of elastic–plastic indentation. DiCarlo *et al.* observed that the introduction of friction in the model increased the calculated hardness by lowering the indenter displacement at maximum load [162].

Figure 5.1(a) also illustrates that for a given friction coefficient, the reduction in maximum depth varied as a function of loading–unloading time. The greater the loading–unloading time the lower was the maximum depth observed in comparison to the frictionless condition.



(a) Effect of friction coefficient on maximum depth



(b) Effect of friction coefficient on residual depth

Figure 5.1: Effect of friction coefficient, f on nanoindentation data for different loading–unloading time and constant maximum load (difference = depth for frictionless – depth for f = 0.125/0.25/0.5) 81

Figure 5.1(b) shows the reduction in residual depth values between a frictionless simulation and a finite friction coefficient simulation. Here, for any given value of friction coefficient, the difference diminished with the increase of loading–unloading time. When lower loading–unloading time is used in an indentation experiment, the viscoelastic creep response is subdued. Hence, the elastic response has relatively higher dominance on the overall deformation behavior. The observed behavior may mean that friction has more effect on the residual depth when viscoelastic behavior has lower dominance over the nanoindentation data.

For both maximum and residual depths the reduction in depths was observed to be very small for all loading–unloading times. For instance in case of t = 240s, the condition which showed the highest deviation for maximum depth, the reduction was found to be  $\approx 0.5\%$ . On the other hand, the highest reduction in residual depth was found to be  $\approx 1.8\%$ 

Figure 5.2 shows the effect of the friction coefficient on maximum and residual depths when loading–unloading time was kept constant and the maximum load was varied from 0.5—1.0 mN. Similar to the investigation mentioned above, where loading–unloading time was varied within experimental range, values of maximum and residual depths were found to have decreased from the values obtained for the frictionless condition.

Figure 5.2(a) shows that increase in the friction coefficient resulted in a higher reduction in maximum depth in comparison to the frictionless counterpart. This observation was common for all three different maximum load conditions. Similar behavior was observed for residual depth reductions as illustrated in Fig. 5.2(b). Since higher friction coefficient would lead to greater frictionally dissipated energy, higher reduction compared to the frictionless conditions would therefore be expected.

Nevertheless, the overall differences were very small. As a matter of fact for f = 0.5, which provided the maximum differences, reductions in maximum and residual



(a) Effect of friction coefficient on maximum depth



(b) Effect of friction coefficient on residual depth

Figure 5.2: Effect of friction coefficient, f on nanoindentation data for different maximum load (constant loading–unloading time)

depths were found to be  $\approx 0.5$  and 1%, respectively.

Another common observation between figure 5.2(a) and 5.2(b) was that between different maximum load conditions there were hardly any difference for a given coefficient of friction. It could mean that within the given range of loads (0.5mN—1.0mN), maximum load have no effect over the friction behavior of tip and sample surface. However, determining whether the maximum load insensitivity is an universal fact requires further investigation.

This parametric study shows that the inclusion of friction in the finite element model leads to changes in the indentation load–displacement response. Nonetheless, the variations are small for the conditions of interest. Real nanoindentation experiment can never be entirely frictionless. Therefore, this study included the effect of friction in the model by using a coefficient f = 0.25 for all sensitivity analysis and surrogate model development purposes.

### 5.2.2 Sensitivity Analysis

Table 5.3 shows the result of sensitivity analysis carried out using Taguchi-based design of experiments. The data of 27 experiments carried out according to  $L_{27}$  orthogonal array was used to get information about the sensitivity of output towards individual parameters.

The '% Contribution' data, which is a measure of variation contributed by individual parameters towards the output, shows that except for  $t_{\varepsilon}$  all other parameters contributed towards the overall variation of output. However, the contribution was significantly influenced by the 'steady state' parameters (C<sub>s</sub> and m<sub>s</sub>).

Figure 5.3 shows the sensitivity of indentation depth at maximum load and at the end of unloading, *i.e.* maximum and residual depths. Similar to Taguchi–ANOVA based sensitivity results, it could be seen that  $t_{\varepsilon}$  has little to no impact on maximum or residual depths.  $C_s$  and  $m_s$  had the most significant impact on the output for both



(b) Effect on indentation residual depth

Figure 5.3: Output sensitivity towards different nonlinear Burgers model parameters

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F-Value	P-Value	% Contribution
Е	2	5597885401	2798942700	3630.33	0.000	11.20
$C_s$	2	16004929654	8002464827	10379.48	0.000	32.01
$m_s$	2	22166899947	11083449973	14375.63	0.000	44.34
$C_{t}$	2	6207522908	3103761454	4025.69	0.000	12.42
$m_t$	2	14961103	7480552	9.70	0.002	0.03
$t_{\epsilon}$	2	92652	46326	0.06	0.942	0.00
Error	14	10793843	770989			
Total	26	50003085508				

Table 5.3: Analysis of Variance for different parameters

studied outputs. Furthermore, the level of significance is much more pronounced for residual depth compared to maximum depth.

Another observation that could be drawn from these results was elastic modulus has a positive correlation with the strain rate. In other words, both maximum and residual depth was comparatively more impacted by elastic modulus when the strain rate was higher. One explanation of this fact could be that when strain rate is higher viscoelastic response gets subdued due to inherent time lag between the elastic and viscoelastic response. As the strain rate gets slower and slower the viscoelastic or the creep response catches up with the elastic response. Hence, the elastic part of the displacement becomes less dominant in the overall displacement pattern of the material.

Figure 5.3 shows another important observation, which is contrary to ANOVA results. The two parameters,  $C_t$  and  $m_t$  shows opposite trend in these two sensitivity tests. In ANOVA  $C_t$  showed substantial influence towards the output, while it was fairly insignificant in Figure 5.3. Contrary to  $C_t$ ,  $m_t$  showed good sensitivity in fig. 5.3,

although very insignificant sensitivity in ANOVA results.

This is because fig. 5.3 represents the sensitivity of individual parameters towards two points in the nanoindentation load–displacement plot, namely maximum and residual depth. Although these two points are very important in understanding material's response, these cannot represent the entire plot. It is possible that two plots distinct in every other way can have the same maximum depth and residual depth pattern. That is why having multiple complementary means of determining sensitivity can provide a broader view of the problem.

#### 5.2.3 Surrogate Model Training and Inverse Analysis

The findings from the sensitivity analysis was taken into account to revise the number of levels for each nonlinear Burgers model parameter. As discussed,  $t_{\varepsilon}$  showed no influence over the output of the nanoindentation simulations. This implies that either  $t_{\varepsilon}$  cannot be accurately determined from a Berkovich nanoindentation experiment or that it is a redundant parameter in describing the material response. Considering these facts, in order to reduce computational expense,  $t_{\varepsilon}$  was given a constant value.

The two parameters that were the most influential of the remaining five,  $C_s$  and  $m_s$ , were varied at four levels. Meanwhile, moderately influential two parameters, E and  $C_t$ , were varied at three levels. According to ANOVA,  $m_t$  was not significantly sensitive towards the output. However, the parametric study showed that  $m_t$  had some influence over maximum indenter depth and residual indenter depth. For this reason, instead of assigning a constant value to  $m_t$ , it was varied in two levels.

Table 5.4 shows the corresponding levels for each parameters that were selected based on the sensitivity analysis. In a full factorial basis, a total of  $3 \times 4 \times 4 \times 3 \times 2 \times 1$ = 288 finite element simulations were carried out in order to generate the surrogate model for every single experimental conditions. In each of these simulations, 100 load– displacement data points were used to represent the nanoindentation plot. Since there

Parameters	No of Points in Space	Parametric Value Space
Е	3	3,  3.25,  3.5
$C_s$	4	0.02,  0.045,  0.07,  0.1
m <sub>s</sub>	4	0.35
$C_t$	3	0.15,  0.25,  0.35
$m_t$	2	0.2,  0.8
$t_{\epsilon}$	1	0.25

Table 5.4: Parametric Space of Nonlinear Burgers Parameters for Surrogate Training

were four individual experimental conditions to represent, a total of four surrogate models were developed. The snapshot matrix used to generate each of these surrogate model had dimensions of  $100 \times 288$ .

After the POD model reduction process was carried out and the RBF coefficients were calculated, the POD–RBF surrogate model was ready to approximate nanoindentation data within the specified parametric space (see Table 5.1). An objective function was written in MATLAB where each surrogate model's output was compared against the corresponding experimental data. This objective function was used within the MATLAB Global Optimization Toolbox to run multi-objective genetic algorithm-based global optimization. The optimization algorithm was set to run in parallel mode until it met the stopping criteria described in Section 5.1.4. Table 5.5 shows the result from the global optimization algorithm.

Table 5.5: Optimized Nonlinear Burgers Model Parameters

Parameters	Е	ν	$C_s$	m <sub>s</sub>	$C_t$	$m_t$	$t_{\epsilon}$
Optimized	3.28	0.34	0.09	0.20	0.24	0.47	0.25

The optimized set of parameters were the numerical best fits depending on the objective function that produces the numerical difference between the predicted and experimental data. Figure 5.4 shows the comparison of predicted and experimental data for all four experimental cases. These were the experimental conditions that were closely followed in creating finite element models and were used to train the predictive or surrogate model. From Figure 5.4 it can be seen that all four surrogate model outputs were very close to the corresponding experimental data. This demonstrated the fact that the multi-objective genetic algorithm-based optimization procedure was successful in finding a common minima taking the constraints in to consideration.

Although, the surrogate model prediction's were mostly close with the experimental data few inconsistencies were observed. For example, the final unloading portion data for the loading–unloading time t = 30s did not match very well. Similar behavior was observed for t = 45s, even though qualitatively the difference between prediction and experiment diminished. For higher loading–unloading time, e.g. t = 60s and 240s, the difference was noticeably very small.

Figure 5.5 shows the comparison of finite element model output for the identified Burgers model parameters vs. the corresponding nanoindentation experimental data. The surrogate model developed with finite element simulation data was not trained for these experimental conditions. These conditions were used to validate the optimized set of Burgers model parameters.

In training the surrogate model for approximating nonlinear Burgers model output, experimental conditions with varying loading–unloading times were used. On the other hand, in these validation experiments maximum loads for which the model was not trained have been used. This decision was deliberately made in consideration of the fact that nonlinear viscoelastic behavior not only depends on strain rate but also on the strain levels associated with the experiment. For nanoindentation experiments it could be safely assumed that changing the load levels would result in change



(c) Loading–unloading time = 60s

(d) Loading–unloading time = 240s

Figure 5.4: Experiment vs. surrogate model for calibrated nonlinear Burgers model parameters



Figure 5.5: Experiment vs. finite element simulation for calibrated nonlinear Burgers model parameters

of strain levels.

From the validation plots for untrained experimental conditions, it could be observed that the finite element simulation output closely matched with the experimental data. In two of the cases (see Figure 5.5b & 5.5d) a portion of the unloading curve showed some discrepancies in a qualitative sense.

Section 5.2.3 shows quantitative variation between the various plots in Fig. 5.4 and 5.5. Variations between the plots has been represented in terms of RMSE,  $R^2$ , Avg. Error, and % Error. As it can be seen, various quantitative discrepancies for Figure 5.5b & 5.5d were found to be comparable with the other plots that showed little discrepancies in qualitative sense.

Another important observation that could be made was that Figure 5.4b and 5.4d both showed almost same quantitative variation. Although, Figure 5.4d's match looked slightly better than Figure 5.4b if perceived visually.

$(P_{max} = maximum load, t = loading-unloading time)$							
Conditions		RMSE	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Avg. Err. (nm)	% Error		
$P_{max} = 1.0 mN$	t = 30s	13.23	0.9821	9.11	2.81		
	t = 45s	9.17	0.9867	7.11	2.34		
	t = 60s	6.72	0.9891	5.70	2.81		
	t = 240s	9.01	0.9893	7.07	2.33		
$P_{\rm max}=0.5{\rm mN}$	t = 30s	4.19	0.9884	3.29	2.73		
	t = 45s	10.06	0.9827	7.89	3.84		
$P_{\rm max}=0.75 {\rm mN}$	t = 30s	3.48	0.9895	2.78	1.41		
	t = 45s	10.69	0.9858	7.59	3.38		

Table 5.6: Variation Between Different Plots

The variation between different plots for optimized set of model parameters could have stemmed from different factors. One such factor could be the friction coefficient

used in the finite element model. As it can be seen the effect of friction coefficient varied depending on the experimental conditions that were being replicated. As a result the error associated with using a particular friction coefficient also varied from one experimental condition to the other. Since the whole process of inverse analysis depended on numerical manipulations, different error in the FEA data could have skewed the parameter optimization in one way or the other.

Ascertaining that the material model parameter set that has been extracted from the inverse analysis procedure is indeed the global parameter set that would satisfy all possible material response is a challenge. In order to deal with this challenge, material responses from other experiments, such as compression, tension, or flexural tests could be included in the process. For some materials carrying out the aforementioned tests may not be feasible, e.g. thin films, coatings, biological cells. In those cases improving the confidence in the optimized parameter set could be established by obtaining material response data from multiple nanoindentation experiments, such as changing the cone angle for a pyramidal indenter tip, or using spherical tips with different radii.

Another way of finding additional constraints for the numerical analysis would be use additional experimental data from the same nanoindentation experiment. For example, if imprint geometry or residual depth profile data could be harnessed from a nanoindentation experiment and used in the objective function, the probability of finding the unique model parameter set increases.

# CHAPTER 6

# CONCLUSIONS

The focus of this study was to identify the nonlinear viscoelastic model parameters for a soft material. Mechanical characterization of soft materials, such as polymers and biomaterials is often challenging due to various size and shape restrictions of the bulk testing methods. Nanoindentation, or Depth Sensing Indentation (DSI) is particularly useful in characterizing material behavior since sample preparation is very straightforward.

While application of the nanoindentation technique for identifying elastic–plastic material model parameters has been extensively studied, identification of viscoelastic behavior still required further investigation. This is because viscoelastic behavior is a much more complex material behavior to analyze due to the time dependence of material response.

Earlier studies that investigated viscoelastic behavior using nanoindentation utilized correspondence principal-based analytical solutions to define material response. This is a rather simplistic way of defining material behavior because it assumes viscoelastic response to be linear. Furthermore, the analytical solutions are often valid until the load is monotonically increasing, i.e. loading portion of the nanoindentation curve. Since soft materials are nonlinearly viscoelastic and material response information from only the loading curve is incomplete, analytical solutions are unable to capture the full spectrum of material response.

To circumvent the problem associated with analytical solutions, a hybrid approach named inverse analysis can be used to model complex material behaviors. Various studies have shown that by reducing the numerical difference between simulated and experimental data, material model parameters can be identified. Even though comparatively simple elastic–plastic nanoindentation has been widely studied through inverse analysis, complex time-dependent material response specially nonlinear viscoelastic behavior has not been investigated at depth.

In this study, load-displacement material response of a nanoindentation experiment conducted on soft epoxy material has been modeled using nonlinear Burger's model. The model parameters of Burger's model was identified using a global optimization algorithm that reduced the differences between the simulation and the experimental data. The traditional method of inverse analysis-based parameter identification requires finite element simulation to run inside the optimization algorithm. The computational expense required to identify parameters thus becomes very large. In order to solve the computation expense problem a predictive or surrogate model was trained using finite element simulation data. A surrogate model, once trained, is a few order of magnitude faster than actual finite element simulation. Hence, instead of using the finite element analysis within the optimization algorithm, the surrogate model was used to approximate the simulation data.

In this study, a POD–RBF based surrogate model was used. The performance or quality of the POD–RBF surrogate model is dependent on a few parameters. These parameters, such as number of training data and choice of basis functions, were studied at depth before using surrogate model to calibrate material model. From this investigation it was found that the information from a sensitivity analysis of the model parameters could be utilized to reduce the number of sampling points without conceding quality of approximation.

This study utilized Taguchi–ANOVA based sensitivity analysis to identify the key parameters that has the most influence over the nanoindentation output. A parametric sensitivity analysis was also performed in order to understand the effect of each parameter over the maximum and residual depths from load–displacement data. The model parameters representing steady state viscoelasticity ( $C_s$  and  $m_s$ ) was contributing majority of the variation towards the output. Depending on the results of the sensitivity analysis the parametric space was defined within which the snapshots for the POD–RBF method were determined.

Another key aspect of finite element material modeling, i.e. effect of friction has been investigated in this study. Studies conducted in the area of nanoindentationbased material model calibration suggested that nanoindentation load–displacement data can be affected by the friction between tip and sample surface. This phenomenon is primarily dependent upon the material model and the tip geometry under investigation. In this investigation it was found that friction has a small influence over the nanoindentation data for the studied material model and the Berkovich tip.

The snapshots for the POD–RBF method were generated via finite element simulations with varying parameter sets within the parametric space. To include friction effect within the model a finite valued friction coefficient was used. The POD–RBF surrogate model was trained through numerical manipulations as described in earlier chapters. The objective or cost function was defined as the mean squared errors between the experimental and numerical (surrogate approximation) data. A genetic algorithm based optimization method was used to reduce the objective function to determine the model parameter set that satisfies the given constraints.

It was observed that the differences between the experimental and surrogate model predicted data for the optimized parameter set was small. This meant that for the trained conditions the optimization process coupled with surrogate model was able to provide a satisfactory parameter set. In order to check the validity of the calibrated model parameters, another set of comparison was drawn between nanoindentation data and finite element simulation data. These nanoindentation experiments were carried out in different conditions for which the predictive model was not trained. Simulation data for the optimized parameter set matched well with these experimental data. This demonstrated that the optimized parameter set was able to capture material behavior for various experimental scenarios.

In this study, it has been shown that the importance of developing an analysis technique to characterize materials exhibiting nonlinear viscoelastic behavior is enormous. Along with improving the fundamental knowledge about polymers and biomaterials, this would also help in understanding disease progression, designing better artificial organs, providing service life prediction of composites, etc. This study presented a robust approach to determine nonlinear viscoelastic model parameters that could be utilized to predict soft material's behavior under different kinds of loading. By strengthening the existing weaknesses in the literature this study opened up possibilities of characterizing soft materials using an alternative technique that is unobtrusive, non-cumbersome, and virtually nondestructive.

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

- C. McKee, J. Last, P. Russell, and C. Murphy, "Indentation versus tensile measurements of Young's modulus for soft biological tissues," *Tissue engineering*. *Part B, Reviews*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 155–164, 2011.
- [2] W. Oliver and G. Pharr, "An improved technique for determining hardness and elastic modulus using load and displacement sensing indentation experiments," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 7, pp. 1564–1583, Jan. 1992.
- [3] S. Gupta, Analytical and numerical nanoindentation studies of compliant biomaterials and soft tissues. PhD thesis, University of California, Berkley, 2008.
- [4] N. Conte and N. Randall, "Investigation of creep behaviour using Micro or Nano Indentation Tester (MHT/NHT)," 2006.
- [5] Y. Jin, "Surrogate-assisted evolutionary computation: Recent advances and future challenges," Swarm and Evolutionary Computation, 2011.
- [6] A. Samani and D. Plewes, "An inverse problem solution for measuring the elastic modulus of intact ex vivo breast tissue tumours," *Physics in Medicine* and Biology, vol. 52, p. 1247, 2007.
- M. Paszek, N. Zahir, K. Johnson, J. Lakins, G. Rozenberg, and A. Gefen, "Tensional homeostasis and the malignant phenotype," *Cancer Cell*, vol. 8, p. 241, 2005.
- [8] T. Matsumoto, H. Abe, T. Ohashi, Y. Kato, and M. Sato, "Local elastic mod-

ulus of atherosclerotic lesions of rabbit thoracic aortas measured by pipette aspiration method," *Physiol Measurement*, vol. 23, p. 635, 2002.

- [9] M. Claridge, G. Bate, P. Hoskins, D. Adam, A. Bradbury, and A. Wilmink, "Measurement of arterial stiffness in subjects with vascular disease: are vessel wall changes more sensitive than increase in intima-media thickness?," *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 205, p. 477, 2009.
- [10] W. Yeh, P. Li, Y. Jeng, H. Hsu, P. Kuo, and M. Li, "Elastic modulus measurements of human liver and correlation with pathology," *Ultrasound in Medicine* and Biology, vol. 28, p. 467, 2002.
- [11] J. Last, T. Pan, Y. Ding, C. Reilly, K. Keller, T. Acott, M. Fautsch, C. Murphy, and P. Russell, "Elastic modulus determination of normal and glaucomatous human trabecular meshwork," *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 2147–2152, 2011.
- [12] F. Dogan and M. Serdar Celebi, "Real-time deformation simulation of nonlinear viscoelastic soft tissues," 2011.
- [13] S. Pal, Design of artificial human joints and organs. Springer USA, 2014.
- [14] K. Mishra, "A study on developing of epoxy/poss nanocomposite and to investigate their thermo-mechanical behavior," Master's thesis, Oklahoma State University, 2010.
- [15] S. U. A. Hamim, "Variation of mechanical properties due to hygrothermal ageing and permanent changes upon redrying in clay/epoxy nanocomposites," Pro-Quest Dissertations and Theses, p. 49, 2011.
- [16] S. U. Hamim and R. P. Singh, "Effect of hygrothermal aging on the mechan-

ical properties of fluorinated and nonfluorinated clay-epoxy nanocomposites," International Scholarly Research Notices, vol. 2014, pp. 1–13, 2014.

- [17] S. Karumuri, S. Hiziroglu, and A. K. Kalkan, "Thermoset-cross-linked lignocellulose: a moldable plant biomass," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 6596–6604, 2015.
- [18] J. Zhang, M. M. Michalenko, E. Kuhl, and T. C. Ovaert, "Characterization of indentation response and stiffness reduction of bone using a continuum damage model," *Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 189–202, 2010.
- [19] P. Engels, C. Begau, S. Gupta, B. Schmaling, A. Ma, and A. Hartmaier, "Multiscale modeling of nanoindentation: from atomistic to continuum models," in *Nanomechanical Analysis of High Performance Materials*, pp. 285–322, Springer Netherlands, 2013.
- [20] A. Ngan, "Nanomechanical characterization of soft materials," in Nanomechanical Analysis of High Performance Materials (A. Tiwari, ed.), Springer Netherlands, 2014.
- [21] G. Dean, L. McCartney, R. Mera, and J. Urquhart, "Modeling nonlinear viscoelasticity in polymers for design using finite element analysis," *Polymer En*gineering & Science, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 2210–2219, 2011.
- [22] X. Li and B. Bhushan, "A review of nanoindentation continuous stiffness measurement technique and its applications," *Materials Characterization*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 11–36, 2002.
- [23] A. Fischer-Cripps, *Nanoindentation*. Springer, 2004.
- [24] S. Karumuri, S. U. Hamim, R. P. Singh, and A. K. Kalkan, "Photodegradation in epoxy polymers," in *Abstracts of Papers of The American Chemical Society*, vol. 248, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC 20036, USA, 2014.
- [25] S. U. Hamim, K. Mishra, and R. P. Singh, "Effect of UV exposure on mechanical properties of poss reinforced epoxy nanocomposites," 2014 Annual Conference on Experimental and Applied Mechanics, 2014.
- [26] L. K. Babu, "Viscoelastic and moisture absorption impact on properties of epoxy using silane coupling agent," Master's thesis, Oklahoma State University, 2015.
- [27] Z. L. Zhou, A. H. W. Ngan, B. Tang, and A. X. Wang, "Reliable measurement of elastic modulus of cells by nanoindentation in an atomic force microscope," *Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials*, vol. 8, no. C, pp. 134–142, 2012.
- [28] C. Heinrich, A. Waas, and A. Wineman, "Determination of material properties using nanoindentation and multiple indenter tips," *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 364–376, 2009.
- [29] V. Buljak, "Proper orthogonal decomposition and radial basis functions algorithm for diagnostic procedure based on inverse analysis," *FME Transactions*, vol. 38, pp. 129–136, 2010.
- [30] I. Sneddon, "The relation between load and penetration in the axisymmetric Boussinesq problem for a punch of arbitrary profile," *International Journal of Engineering Science*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 47–57, 1965.
- [31] M. Doerner and W. Nix, "A method for interpreting the data from depthsensing indentation instruments," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 1, no. 04, pp. 601–609, 1986.

- [32] B. Poon, D. Rittel, and G. Ravichandran, "An analysis of nanoindentation in elasto-plastic solids," *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 45, no. 25-26, pp. 6399–6415, 2008.
- [33] B. J. Briscoe, L. Fiori, and E. Pelillo, "Nano-indentation of polymeric surfaces," *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, 1998.
- [34] J. Field and M. Swain, "Determining the mechanical properties of small volumes of material from submicrometer spherical indentations," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 10, no. 01, pp. 101–112, 1995.
- [35] A. Ngan and B. Tang, "Viscoelastic effects during unloading in depth-sensing indentation," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 17, no. 10, pp. 2604–2610, 2002.
- [36] M. VanLandingham, "Review of instrumented indentation," Journal of Research of National Institute of Standards and Technology, vol. 108, pp. 249–265, 2003.
- [37] G. Feng and A. H. W. Ngan, "Effects of creep and thermal drift on modulus measurement using depth-sensing indentation," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 660–668, 2002.
- [38] B. Tang and A. H. W. Ngan, "Accurate measurement of tip-sample contact size during nanoindentation of viscoelastic materials," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 1141–1148, 2003.
- [39] A. Ngan, H. Wang, B. Tang, and K. Sze, "Correcting power-law viscoelastic effects in elastic modulus measurement using depth-sensing indentation," *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 42, no. 5–6, pp. 1831–1846, 2005.

- [40] Y. Cheng, W. Ni, and C. Cheng, "Determining the instantaneous modulus of viscoelastic solids using instrumented indentation measurements," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 20, no. 11, pp. 3061–3071, 2011.
- [41] J. Radok, "Visco-elastic stress analysis," Quaterly of Applied Mathematics, vol. 15, pp. 198–202, 1957.
- [42] E. Lee and J. Radok, "The contact problem for viscoelastic bodies," Journal of Applied Mechanics, vol. 27, no. 3, p. 438, 1960.
- [43] E. Lee, "Stress analysis in visco-elastic bodies," Quarterly of Applied Mathematics, vol. 13, p. 183, 1955.
- [44] S. Hunter, "The Hertz problem for a rigid spherical indenter and a viscoelastic half-space," *Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 219–234, 1960.
- [45] T. Ting, "The contact stresses between a rigid indenter and a viscoelastic halfspace," *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, vol. 33, no. 4, p. 845, 1966.
- [46] L. Cheng, X. Xia, W. Yu, L. E. Scriven, and W. W. Gerberich, "Flat-punch indentation of viscoelastic material," *Journal of Polymer Science Part B: Polymer Physics*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 10–22, 2000.
- [47] Y. Cheng and C. Cheng, "Relationships between initial unloading slope, contact depth, and mechanical properties for conical indentation in linear viscoelastic solids," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 20, no. 04, pp. 1046–1053, 2005.
- [48] A. Giannakopoulos, "Elastic and viscoelastic indentation of flat surfaces by pyramid indentors," *Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 1305–1332, 2006.

- [49] G. Huang and H. Lu, "Measurements of two independent viscoelastic functions by nanoindentation," *Experimental Mechanics*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 87–98, 2006.
- [50] A. Jäger, R. Lackner, and J. Eberhardsteiner, "Identification of viscoelastic properties by means of nanoindentation taking the real tip geometry into account," *Meccanica*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 293–306, 2007.
- [51] H. Lu, B. Wang, J. Ma, G. Huang, and H. Viswanathan, "Measurement of creep compliance of solid polymers by nanoindentation," *Mechanics of Time-Dependent Materials*, vol. 7, no. 3-4, pp. 189–207, 2003.
- [52] M. VanLandingham, N. Chang, P. Drzal, C. White, and S. Chang, "Viscoelastic characterization of polymers using instrumented indentation. I. Quasi-static testing," *Journal of Polymer Science Part B: Polymer Physics*, vol. 43, no. 14, pp. 1794–1811, 2005.
- [53] H. Schiessel, R. Metzler, A. Blumen, and T. F. Nonnenmacher, "Generalized viscoelastic models: their fractional equations with solutions," *Journal of Physics* A: Mathematical and General, vol. 28, no. 23, pp. 6567–6584, 1995.
- [54] C. Liu, S. Lee, L. Sung, and T. Nguyen, "Load-displacement relations for nanoindentation of viscoelastic materials," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 100, no. 3, p. 33503, 2006.
- [55] E. Klompen and L. Govaert, "Nonlinear viscoelastic behaviour of thermorheologically complex materials," *Mechanics of Time-Dependent Materials*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 49–69, 1999.
- [56] C. Jo, J. Fu, and H. Naguib, "Constitutive modeling for mechanical behavior of PMMA microcellular foams," *Polymer*, vol. 46, no. 25, pp. 11896–11903, 2005.

- [57] I. Lin, K. Ou, Y. Liao, Y. Liu, K. Chen, and X. Zhang, "Viscoelastic characterization and modeling of polymer transducers for biological applications," *Journal of Microelectromechanical Systems*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 1087–1099, 2009.
- [58] N. P. Daphalapurkar, C. Dai, R. Z. Gan, and H. Lu, "Characterization of the linearly viscoelastic behavior of human tympanic membrane by nanoindentation," *Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 82–92, 2009.
- [59] S. Kubo, "Inverse analyses and their application to nondestructive evaluations," in 12th Asia-Pacific Conference on NDT, 2006.
- [60] M. Zhang, Y. Zheng, and A. Mak, "Estimating the effective Young's modulus of soft tissues from indentation tests—nonlinear finite element analysis of effects of friction and large deformation," *Medical Engineering & Physics*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 512–517, 1997.
- [61] T. Ovaert, B. Kim, and J. Wang, "Multi-parameter models of the viscoelastic/plastic mechanical properties of coatings via combined nanoindentation and non-linear finite element modeling," *Progress in Organic Coatings*, vol. 47, no. 3-4, pp. 312–323, 2003.
- [62] J. Olberding and J. Francis Suh, "A dual optimization method for the material parameter identification of a biphasic poroviscoelastic hydrogel: Potential application to hypercompliant soft tissues," *Journal of Biomechanics*, vol. 39, no. 13, pp. 2468–2475, 2006.
- [63] F. Lei and A. Szeri, "Inverse analysis of constitutive models: Biological soft tissues," *Journal of Biomechanics*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 936–940, 2007.
- [64] A. Hernandez-Jimenez, J. Hernandez-Santiago, A. Macias-Garcia, and

J. Sanchez-Gonzalez, "Relaxation modulus in PMMA and PTFE fitting by fractional maxwell model," *Polymer Testing*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 325–331, 2002.

- [65] V. Gonda, J. den Toonder, J. Beijer, G. Q. Zhang, and L. J. Ernst, "Finite thickness influence on spherical and conical indentation on viscoelastic thin polymer film," *Journal of Electronic Packaging*, vol. 127, no. 1, p. 33, 2005.
- [66] Y. Cheng and C. Cheng, "General relationship between contact stiffness, contact depth, and mechanical properties for indentation in linear viscoelastic solids using axisymmetric indenters of arbitrary profiles," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 87, no. 11, p. 111914, 2005.
- [67] L. Cheng, X. Xia, L. Scriven, and W. Gerberich, "Spherical-tip indentation of viscoelastic material," *Mechanics of Materials*, vol. 37, pp. 213–226, Jan. 2005.
- [68] Y. Cheng, C. Cheng, and W. Ni, "Methods of obtaining instantaneous modulus of viscoelastic solids using displacement-controlled instrumented indentation with axisymmetric indenters of arbitrary smooth profiles," *Materials Science* and Engineering: A, vol. 423, no. 1-2, pp. 2–7, 2006.
- [69] Z. Zhou and H. Lu, "On the measurements of viscoelastic functions of a sphere by nanoindentation," *Mechanics of Time-Dependent Materials*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 1–24, 2009.
- [70] M. Vandamme and F. Ulm, "Viscoelastic solutions for conical indentation," *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 3142–3165, 2006.
- [71] P. Wei, W. Shen, and J. Lin, "Analysis and modeling for time-dependent behavior of polymers exhibited in nanoindentation tests," *Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids*, vol. 354, no. 33, pp. 3911–3918, 2008.

- [72] M. Oyen, "Analytical techniques for indentation of viscoelastic materials," *Philosophical Magazine*, vol. 86, no. 33-35, pp. 5625–5641, 2006.
- [73] J. Mencik, L. He, and J. Nemecek, "Characterization of viscoelastic-plastic properties of solid polymers by instrumented indentation," *Polymer Testing*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 101–109, 2010.
- [74] K. Chen, T. Chen, and K. Ou, "Development of semi-empirical formulation for extracting materials properties from nanoindentation measurements: Residual stresses, substrate effect, and creep," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 516, no. 8, pp. 1931– 1940, 2008.
- [75] J. Knapp, D. Follstaedt, S. Myers, J. Barbour, and T. Friedmann, "Finiteelement modeling of nanoindentation," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 85, no. 3, pp. 1460–1474, 1999.
- [76] N. Huber, W. Nix, and H. Gao, "Identification of elastic-plastic material parameters from pyramidal indentation of thin films," in *Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, vol. 458, (London), pp. 1593–1620, The Royal Society, 2002.
- [77] M. Bocciarelli, G. Bolzon, and G. Maier, "Parameter identification in anisotropic elastoplasticity by indentation and imprint mapping," *Mechanics* of Materials, vol. 37, pp. 855–868, 2005.
- [78] T. Nakamura and Y. Gu, "Identification of elastic-plastic anisotropic parameters using instrumented indentation and inverse analysis," *Mechanics of Materials*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 340–356, 2007.
- [79] M. Kopernik and a. S. Wczyk, "Classical inverse and metamodel approach in identification of nanomaterials properties," Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 77–96, 2009.

- [80] C. Moy, M. Bocciarelli, S. Ringer, and G. Ranzi, "Identification of the material properties of Al 2024 alloy by means of inverse analysis and indentation tests," *Materials Science and Engineering A*, vol. 529, pp. 119–130, 2011.
- [81] S. Guessasma, M. Sehaki, D. Lourdin, and A. Bourmaud, "Viscoelasticity properties of biopolymer composite materials determined using finite element calculation and nanoindentation," *Computational Materials Science*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 371–377, 2008.
- [82] K. Liu, M. VanLandingham, and T. Ovaert, "Mechanical characterization of soft viscoelastic gels via indentation and optimization-based inverse finite element analysis," *Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 355–363, 2009.
- [83] D. Valdez-Jasso, D. Bia, M. Haider, Y. Zócalo, R. Armentano, and M. Olufsen, "Linear and nonlinear viscoelastic modeling of ovine aortic biomechanical properties under in vivo and ex vivo conditions," *Engineering in Medicine and Bi*ology Society (EMBC), 2010 Annual International Conference of the IEEE, pp. 2634–2637, 2010.
- [84] M. Abyaneh, R. Wildman, I. Ashcroft, and P. Ruiz, "A hybrid approach to determining cornea mechanical properties in vivo using a combination of nanoindentation and inverse finite element analysis," *Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials*, vol. 27, pp. 239–248, 2013.
- [85] D. Lin, D. Shreiber, E. Dimitriadis, and F. Horkay, "Spherical indentation of soft matter beyond the Hertzian regime: numerical and experimental validation of hyperelastic models," *Biomechanics and Modeling in Mechanobiology*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 345–358, 2008.

- [86] M. Cox, D. Gawlitta, N. Driessen, C. Oomens, and F. Baaijens, "The nonlinear mechanical properties of soft engineered biological tissues determined by finite spherical indentation," *Computer Methods in Biomechanics and Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 585–592, 2008.
- [87] X. Su, Y. Gu, J. Finlay, I. Jenkinson, and X. Ren, "Rapid identification of nonlinear material parameters of foams based on neural network," 6th World Congress of Biomechanics (WCB 2010). August 1-6, 2010 Singapore, pp. 243– 246, 2010.
- [88] G. Rauchs, J. Bardon, and D. Georges, "Identification of the material parameters of a viscous hyperelastic constitutive law from spherical indentation tests of rubber and validation by tensile tests," *Mechanics of Materials*, vol. 42, no. 11, pp. 961–973, 2010.
- [89] Y. Kucuk, "Simulation of non-linear viscoelastic behavior of cross-linked mesoporous silica aerogels by depth-sensing indentation," *Indian Journal of Engineering & Materials Sciences*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 260–268, 2012.
- [90] Y. Kucuk, C. Mollamahmutoglu, Y. Wang, and H. Lu, "Nonlinearly viscoelastic nanoindentation of pmma under a spherical tip," *Experimental Mechanics*, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 731–742, 2012.
- [91] J. Kim and M. Srinivasan, "Characterization of viscoelastic soft tissue properties from in vivo animal experiments and inverse FE parameter estimation," *Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention - MIC-CAI*, vol. 8, no. Pt 2, pp. 599–606, 2005.
- [92] S. Hartmann, J. Gibmeier, and B. Scholtes, "Experiments and material parameter identification using finite elements. Uniaxial tests and validation using

instrumented indentation tests," *Experimental Mechanics*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 5–18, 2006.

- [93] E. Samur, M. Sedef, C. Basdogan, L. Avtan, and O. Duzgun, "A robotic indenter for minimally invasive measurement and characterization of soft tissue response," *Medical Image Analysis*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 361–373, 2007.
- [94] R. Resapu, K. Nagendran, and R. Bradshaw, "A finite element method for the determination of optimal viscoelastic material properties from indentation tests of polymer film and wire with polymer insulation," *Experimental Mechanics*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 713–729, 2008.
- [95] G. Rauchs and J. Bardon, "Identification of elasto-viscoplastic material parameters by indentation testing and combined finite element modelling and numerical optimization," *Finite Elements in Analysis and Design*, vol. 47, pp. 653–667, July 2011.
- [96] A. Boccaccio, L. Lamberti, M. Papi, M. D. Spirito, C. Douet, G. Goudet, C. Pappalettere, D. Meccanica, M. Management, P. Bari, S. Cuore, and I. Fisica, "A hybrid characterization framework to determine the viscohyperelastic properties of a porcine zona pellucida," *Interface Focus*, vol. 4, no. 20130066, 2014.
- [97] S. Abetkovskaia, S. Chizhik, V. Rudnitsky, and A. Kren, "Evaluation of viscoelastic properties of materials by nanoindentation," *Journal of Friction and Wear*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 180–183, 2010.
- [98] B. Schmaling and A. Hartmaier, "Determination of plastic material properties by analysis of residual imprint geometry of indentation," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 27, no. 16, pp. 2167–2177, 2012.

- [99] F. Arizzi and E. Rizzi, "Elastoplastic parameter identification by simulation of static and dynamic," *Modelling and Simulation in Materials Science and Engineering*, vol. 22, pp. 1–22, 2014.
- [100] N. Chollacoop, M. Dao, and S. Suresh, "Depth-sensing instrumented indentation with dual sharp indenters," Acta Materialia, vol. 51, no. 13, pp. 3713–3729, 2003.
- [101] G. Constantinides, Z. Kalcioglu, M. McFarland, J. Smith, and K. Van Vliet, "Probing mechanical properties of fully hydrated gels and biological tissues," *Journal of Biomechanics*, vol. 41, no. 15, pp. 3285–3289, 2008.
- [102] S. Barnes, A. Lyshchik, M. Washington, J. Gore, and M. Miga, "Development of a mechanical testing assay for fibrotic murine liver," *Medical Physics*, vol. 34, p. 4439, 2007.
- [103] B. Tay, J. Kim, and M. Srinivasan, "In vivo mechanical behavior of intraabdominal organs," *IEEE Transactions of Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 53, p. 2129, 2006.
- [104] D. Ebenstein and L. Pruitt, "Nanoindentation of soft hydrated materials for application to vascular tissues.," *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research: Part* A, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 222–232, 2004.
- [105] T. Oie, Y. Murayama, T. Fukuda, C. Nagai, S. Omata, K. Kanda, H. Yaku, and Y. Nakayama, "Local elasticity imaging of vascular tissues using a tactile mapping system," *Journal of Artificial Organs*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 40–46, 2009.
- [106] A. Engler, L. Richert, J. Wong, C. Picart, and D. Discher, "Surface probe measurements of the elasticity of sectioned tissue, thin gels and polyelectrolyte multilayer films: Correlations between substrate stiffness and cell adhesion," in *Surface Science*, vol. 570, pp. 142–154, 2004.

- [107] H. Ling, P. Choi, Y. Zheng, and K. Lau, "Extraction of mechanical properties of foot plantar tissues using ultrasound indentation associated with genetic algorithm," *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 8, pp. 1579–1586, 2007.
- [108] C. Pailler-Mattei, S. Bec, and H. Zhaouani, "In vivo measurements of the elastic mechanical properties of human skin by indentation tests," *Medical Engineering & Physics*, vol. 30, no. 5, p. 599, 2008.
- [109] J. Last, S. Liliensiek, P. Nealey, and C. Murphy, "Determining the mechanical properties of human corneal basement membranes with atomic force microscopy," *Journal of Structural Biology*, vol. 167, no. 1, pp. 19–24, 2009.
- [110] A. Samani, J. Bishop, C. Luginbuhl, and D. Plewes, "Measuring the elastic modulus of ex vivo small tissue samples.," *Physics in Medicine and Biology*, vol. 48, no. 14, pp. 2183–2198, 2003.
- [111] E. Chen, J. Novakofski, W. Jenkins, and W. OBrien, "Young's modulus measurements of soft tissues with application to elasticity imaging," *IEEE Transactions of Ultrasonics, Ferroelectrics, and Frequency Control*, vol. 43, p. 191, 1996.
- [112] B. Elkin, E. Azeloglu, K. Costa, and B. Morrison, "Mechanical heterogeneity of the rat hippocampus measured by atomic force microscope indentation," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 812–822, 2007.
- [113] T. Saxena, J. Gilbert, and J. Hasenwinkel, "A versatile mesoindentation system to evaluate the micromechanical properties of soft, hydrated substrates on a cellular scale," *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research: Part A*, vol. 90, no. 4, pp. 1206–1217, 2009.

- [114] Y. Fung, Biomechanics: mechanical properties of living tissues. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag, 1993.
- [115] D. Tranchida, Z. Kiflie, and S. Piccarolo, "Viscoelastic recovery behavior following atomic force microscope nanoindentation of semicrystalline poly(ethylene)," *Macromolecules*, vol. 40, no. 20, pp. 7366–7371, 2007.
- [116] K. Darvish and J. Crandall, "Nonlinear viscoelastic effects in oscillatory shear deformation of brain tissue," *Medical Engineering and Physics*, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 633–645, 2001.
- [117] W. Findley, J. Lai, and K. Onaran, Creep and relaxation of nonlinear viscoelastic materials with an introduction to linear viscoelasticity. New York: Dover Pub, 1989.
- [118] J. Marin and Y. Pao, "An analytical theory of the creep deformation of materials," *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, vol. 20, 1953.
- [119] H. Richter, E. Misawa, D. Lucca, and H. Lu, "Modeling nonlinear behavior in a piezoelectric actuator," *Precision Engineering*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 128–137, 2001.
- [120] I. Shames and F. Cozzarelli, *Elastic and inelastic stress analysis*. Washington: Taylor and Francis, 1997.
- [121] W. Aquino, "An object-oriented framework for reduced-order models using proper orthogonal decomposition (POD)," Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering, vol. 196, no. 41-44, pp. 4375–4390, 2007.
- [122] S. Han and B. Feeny, "Application of proper orthogonal decomposition to structural vibration analysis," *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 989–1001, 2003.

- [123] P. Holmes, J. Lumley, and G. Berkooz, Turbulence, Coherent Structures, Dynamical Systems, and Symmetry. Cambridge, New York: Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [124] T. Lieu, C. Farhat, and M. Lesoinne, "Reduced-order fluid/structure modeling of a complete aircraft configuration," *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics* and Engineering, vol. 195, no. 41-43, pp. 5730–5742, 2006.
- [125] J. Atwell and B. King, "Proper orthogonal decomposition for reduced basis feedback controllers for parabolic equations," *Mathematical and Computer Modeling*, vol. 33, no. 1-3, pp. 1–19, 2001.
- [126] F. Leibfritz and S. Volkwein, "Reduced order output feedback control design for PDE systems using proper orthogonal decomposition and nonlinear semidefinite programming," *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, vol. 415, no. 2-3, pp. 542– 575, 2006.
- [127] H. Ly and H. Tran, "Modeling and control of physical processes using proper orthogonal decomposition," *Mathematical and Computer Modeling*, vol. 33, no. 1-3, pp. 223–236, 2001.
- [128] S. Ravindran, "A reduced-order approach for optimal control of fluids using proper orthogonal decomposition," *International Journal for Numerical Meth*ods in Fluids, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 425–448, 2000.
- [129] H. Banks, M. Joyner, and B. Wincheski, "Real time computational algorithms for eddy-current-based damage detection," *Inverse Problems*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 795–823, 2002.
- [130] G. Kopp, J. Ferre, and F. Giralt, "The use of pattern recognition and proper orthogonal decomposition in identifying the structure of fully-developed free turbulence," *Journal of Fluids Engineering*, vol. 119, no. 2, p. 289, 1997.

- [131] R. Larson and M. Jones, "Reduced-order modeling of time-dependent reflectance profiles from purely scattering media," *Journal of Quantitative Spectroscopy and Radiative Transfer*, vol. 109, no. 2, pp. 201–209, 2008.
- [132] Z. Ostrowski, R. A. Białecki, and A. J. Kassab, "Estimation of constant thermal conductivity by use of proper orthogonal decomposition," *Computational Mechanics*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 52–59, 2005.
- [133] Z. Ostrowski, R. A. Białecki, and A. J. Kassab, "Solving inverse heat conduction problems using trained POD-RBF network inverse method," *Inverse Problems* in Science and Engineering, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 39–54, 2008.
- [134] K. Pearson, "On lines and planes of closest fit to systems of points in space," *Philosophical Magazine*, 1901.
- [135] A. Fic, R. A. Białecki, and A. J. Kassab, "Solving transient nonlinear heat conduction problems by proper orthogonal decomposition and the finite-element method," *Numerical Heat Transfer, Part B: Fundamentals*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 103–124, 2005.
- [136] Y. Liang, H. Lee, S. Lim, W. Lin, K. Lee, and C. We, "Proper orthogonal decomposition and its applications—Part I: Theory," *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 252, no. 3, pp. 527–544, 2002.
- [137] A. Chatterjee, "An introduction to the proper orthogonal decomposition," Current Science, vol. 78, no. 7, pp. 808–817, 2000.
- [138] V. Buljak, "Proper orthogonal decomposition and radial basis functions for fast simulations," in *Inverse Analyses with Model Reduction*, pp. 85–139, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- [139] M. Buhmann, Radial Basis Functions. Cambridge University Press, 2003.

- [140] G. Bolzon, G. Maier, and M. Panico, "Material model calibration by indentation, imprint mapping and inverse analysis," *International Journal of Solids* and Structures, vol. 41, pp. 2957–2975, 2004.
- [141] M. Bocciarelli and G. Bolzon, "Indentation and imprint mapping for the identification of constitutive parameters of thin layers on substrate: Perfectly bonded interfaces," *Materials Science and Engineering A*, vol. 448, pp. 303–314, 2007.
- [142] M. Bocciarelli and G. Bolzon, "Indentation and imprint mapping for the identification of interface properties in film-substrate systems," *International Journal* of Fracture, vol. 155, no. 1, pp. 1–17, 2009.
- [143] G. Bolzon, V. Buljak, G. Maier, and B. Miller, "Assessment of elastic-plastic material parameters comparatively by three procedures based on indentation test and inverse analysis," *Inverse Problems in Science and Engineering*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 815–837, 2011.
- [144] G. Bolzon, B. Molinas, and M. Talassi, "Mechanical characterisation of metals by indentation tests: An experimental verification study for on-site applications," *Strain*, vol. 48, pp. 517–527, 2012.
- [145] G. Bolzon and M. Talassi, "An effective inverse analysis tool for parameter identification of anisotropic material models," *International Journal of Mechanical Sciences*, vol. 77, pp. 130–144, 2013.
- [146] G. Bolzon, "Advances in experimental mechanics by the synergetic combination of full-field measurement techniques and computational tools," *Measurement: Journal of the International Measurement Confederation*, vol. 54, pp. 159–165, 2014.
- [147] G. Qian, T. Nakamura, C. Berndt, and S. Leigh, "Tensile toughness test and

high temperature fracture analysis of thermal barrier coatings," Acta Materialia, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 1767–1784, 1997.

- [148] T. Nakamura, T. Wang, and S. Sampath, "Determination of properties of graded materials by inverse analysis and instrumented indentation," Acta Materialia, vol. 48, no. 17, pp. 4293–4306, 2000.
- [149] V. Magnenet, A. Giraud, and F. Homand, "Parameter sensitivity analysis for a Drücker–Prager model following from numerical simulations of indentation tests," *Computational Materials Science*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 385–391, 2008.
- [150] Y. Ma, Y. Zhang, H.-F. Yu, X.-Y. Zhang, X.-F. Shu, and B. Tang, "Plastic characterization of metals by combining nanoindentation test and finite element simulation," *Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China*, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 2368–2373, 2013.
- [151] P. Clément, S. Meille, J. Chevalier, and C. Olagnon, "Mechanical characterization of highly porous inorganic solids materials by instrumented microindentation," *Acta Materialia*, vol. 61, no. 18, pp. 6649–6660, 2013.
- [152] C. Rogers, A. Kassab, E. Divo, Z. Ostrowski, and R. Bialecki, "An inverse POD–RBF network approach to parameter estimation in mechanics," *Inverse Problems in Science and Engineering*, vol. 20, pp. 749–767, 2012.
- [153] H. Hotelling, "Analysis of a complex of statistical variables into principal components," *Journal of Educational Psychology*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 417–441, 1933.
- [154] L. Sirovich, "Empirical eigenfunctions and low dimensional systems," in New Perspectives in Turbulence, pp. 139–163, New York, NY: Springer New York, 1991.

- [155] E. Larsson and B. Fornberg, "A numerical study of some radial basis function based solution methods for elliptic PDEs," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 46, no. 5-6, pp. 891–902, 2003.
- [156] M. Mongillo, "Choosing basis functions and shape parameters for radial basis function methods," SIAM Undergraduate Research Online, pp. 190–209, 2011.
- [157] T. H. Wang, T.-H. Fang, and Y.-C. Lin, "A numerical study of factors affecting the characterization of nanoindentation on silicon," *Materials Science and Engineering: A*, vol. 447, no. 1-2, pp. 244–253, 2007.
- [158] A. Warren and Y. Guo, "Machined surface properties determined by nanoindentation: experimental and FEA studies on the effects of surface integrity and tip geometry," *Surface and Coatings Technology*, vol. 201, no. 1-2, pp. 423–433, 2006.
- [159] B. Taljat, T. Zacharia, and F. Kosel, "New analytical procedure to determine stress-strain curve from spherical indentation data," *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 35, no. 33, pp. 4411–4426, 1998.
- [160] S. M. Goh, M. N. Charalambides, and J. G. Williams, "Characterisation of non-linear viscoelastic foods by the indentation technique," *Rheologica Acta*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 47–54, 2004.
- [161] E. Harsono, S. Swaddiwudhipong, and Z. S. Liu, "The effect of friction on indentation test results," *Modelling and Simulation in Materials Science and Engineering*, vol. 16, no. 6, p. 065001, 2008.
- [162] A. DiCarlo, H. T. Y. Yang, and S. Chandrasekar, "Semi-inverse method for predicting stress-strain relationship from cone indentations," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 18, no. 09, pp. 2068–2078, 2003.

#### APPENDIX A

## VISCOELASTIC ANALYTICAL SOLUTIONS

Hertzian solution for elastic spherical and conical contact gives the following P–h relationships (eqs. (A.1) and (A.2)), respectively. By using Lee and Radok's correspondence principal to change the elastic constant with the viscoelastic operator and subsequent Laplace transformation one can end up getting the eqs. (A.3) and (A.4).

$$P = \frac{4\sqrt{R}E}{3(1-\nu^2)}h^{3/2}$$
(A.1)

$$P = \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{E}{1 - \nu^2} \tan \alpha h^2 \tag{A.2}$$

$$h^{3/2}(t) = \frac{3(1-\nu^2)}{4\sqrt{R}} P_0 D(t)$$
(A.3)

$$h^{2}(t) = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{1 - \nu^{2}}{\tan \alpha} P_{0} D(t)$$
 (A.4)

where, D(t) represents the time-dependent creep modulus. Creep modulus, D(t)and relaxation modulus, E(t) are often described in a spectral form using a Prony series in the following form

$$D(t) = \sum_{k} D_k \left( 1 - \exp\left(\frac{-t}{\tau_k}\right) \right)$$
(A.5)

$$E(t) = \sum_{k} E_k \exp\left(\frac{-t}{\tau_k}\right)$$
(A.6)

## VITA

## SALAH UDDIN AHMED HAMIM

#### Candidate for the Degree of

### Doctor of Philosophy

# Thesis: PARAMETER ESTIMATION OF A NONLINEAR BURGERS MODEL USING NANOINDENTATION AND FINITE ELEMENT-BASED IN-VERSE ANALYSIS

Major Field: Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering

Biographical:

Education:

Salah Hamim is a Bangladeshi student, born and lived in Dhaka most of his life. He received his BSc in Mechanical Engineering degree from Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology in 2009. In the fall of the same year, he joined Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering department at OSU for his MS degree. After graduating in Summer 2011, he continued as a PhD student in the same department.

Experience:

Research Assistant in Mechanics of Advanced Materials Laboratory, OSU Teaching Assistant, CEAT and MAE, OSU Creativity, Innovation, and Entrepreneurship Scholar, Spears School of Business, OSU Halliburton Graduate Fellowship in Engineering, CEAT, OSU J. Roy and Virginia Dorrough Distinguished Graduate Fellowship, OSU University Innovation Fellow, Epicenter (Stanford University and NSF) Engineering Oral Presentation 2nd Place, OSU in Tulsa Research Day 3MT Three Minute Thesis 2nd Place, CEAT, OSU President and Sports Coordinator, Bangladesh Student Association, OSU PhD Supplementary Fellowship, MAE, OSU The Honor Society of Phi Kappa Phi Member University Merit Scholarship, Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology (BUET)